
Central Bedfordshire 
Council
Priory House
Monks Walk
Chicksands, 
Shefford SG17 5TQ  

please ask for Leslie Manning

direct line 0300 300 5132

date 15 March 2018

NOTICE OF MEETING

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE

Date & Time
Thursday, 29 March 2018 10.00 a.m.

Venue at
Council Chamber, Priory House, Monks Walk, Shefford

Richard Carr
Chief Executive

To:    The Chairman and Members of the GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE:

Cllrs Mrs J G Lawrence (Chairman), G Perham (Vice-Chairman), 
Mrs C F Chapman MBE, P Hollick, J G Jamieson, R W Johnstone, 
K C Matthews, B J Spurr, N Warren, S Watkins, R D Wenham and A Zerny

[Named Substitutes:

Cllrs R D Berry, D Bowater, N B Costin, Mrs A L Dodwell, E Ghent, 
D J Lawrence, I Shingler and M A G Versallion]

All other Members of the Council - on request

MEMBERS OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC ARE WELCOME TO ATTEND THIS 
MEETING

This meeting may 
be filmed.*



*Please note that phones or other equipment may 
be used to film, audio record, tweet or blog from 
this meeting.  No part of the meeting room is 
exempt from public filming.

The use of arising images or recordings is not 
under the Council’s control.



AGENDA

1.  Apologies for Absence

To receive apologies for absence and notification of substitute Members.

2.  Minutes

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the General 
Purposes Committee held on 7 December 2017 (copy attached). 

3.  Members' Interests

To receive from Members any declarations of interest.

4.  Chairman's Announcements and Communications

To receive any announcements from the Chairman and any matters of 
communication.

5.  Petitions

To receive petitions from members of the public in accordance with the Public 
Participation Procedure as set out in Part 4G of the Constitution.

6.  Questions, Statements or Deputations

To receive any questions, statements or deputations from members of the 
public in accordance with the Public Participation Procedure as set out in Part 
4G of the Constitution.

Reports

Item Subject Page Nos.

7. Community Governance Review

To consider the recommendations arising from the results 
of the stage 1 consultation on the Community Governance 
Review.

* 23 - 162

8. Gender Pay Gap Statement - 31 March 2017

To consider the first annual return on the gender pay gap 
at the Council as required under the Equality Act 2010 
(Special Duties and Public Authorities) Regulations 2017.

* 163 - 174



9. Update Report on the Recording of Meetings

To consider a verbal update setting out the latest position 
regarding the recording of meetings at the Council.

Verbal Report

10. Report on the Arrangements for Ethical Standards

To consider matters relating to the Council’s ethical 
governance arrangements.

(Note: Appendix C to the report is to follow).

* 175 - 190

11. Work Programme

To consider the Committee’s work programme.

* 191 - 194



CENTRAL  BEDFORDSHIRE COUNCIL

At a meeting of the GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE held at Council Chamber, 
Prior House, Monks Walk, Shefford on Thursday, 7 December 2017

PRESENT

Cllr Mrs J G Lawrence (Chairman)
Cllr G Perham (Vice-Chairman)

Cllrs A D Brown in attendance
Mrs C F Chapman MBE
J G Jamieson
K C Matthews

Cllrs N Warren
S Watkins
A Zerny

Apologies for Absence: Cllrs R W Johnstone
Cllr B J Spurr
R D Wenham

Substitutes: Cllrs D J Lawrence (In place of R D Wenham)

Officers in Attendance: Mr Q Baker – AD Legal Services (Monitoring 
Officer)

Miss M Brooks – Committee Services Officer
Mrs V Chapman – Assistant Director People
Mr L Manning – Committee Services Officer
Mr J Partridge – Head of Governance
Mr C Warboys
Mr S Sahota

– Director of Resources
– Deputy Monitoring Officer

GPC/17/24.   Minutes 

RESOLVED

that the Minutes of the meeting of the General Purposes Committee held 
on 26 October 2017 be confirmed and signed by the Chairman as a 
correct record. 

GPC/17/25.   Members' Interests 

None.

GPC/17/26.   Chairman's Announcements and Communications 

The Chairman announced that there would be two additions to the agenda; an 
urgent report on proposed amendments for procedures for motions which 

Page 5
Agenda Item 2



GPC - 07.12.17
Page 2

would be discussed as agenda item 9 and Members’ enquiries which would be 
discussed as agenda item 10.

The Chairman also advised the Committee that, as a trial, this meeting would 
be filmed using new software but the meeting would not be webcast.

GPC/17/27.   Petitions 

No petitions were received from members of the public in accordance with the 
Public Participation Procedure as set out in Part 4G of the Constitution.

GPC/17/28.   Questions, Statements or Deputations 

No questions, statements or deputations were received from members of the 
public in accordance with the Public Participation Procedure as set out in Part 
4G of the Constitution.

GPC/17/29.   Pay Policy Statement 2018/19 

The Committee considered a report which set out the details of the Pay Policy 
Statement 2018/19.  The Council was required to adopt the Statement by 31 
March 2018.

The Committee was asked to recommend to full Council that the Pay Policy be 
adopted and published on the Council’s website with effect from 1 April 2018.

The Committee noted that there had been no significant changes or direct 
financial implications from this Pay Policy Statement.

Points and comments included:
 The Chairman noted that the request to include the current pay 

relationship between the highest paid employee and the Council’s 
median earner and the mean average salary had been measured and 
included as part of the Pay Policy Statement.

 Confirmation by the Assistant Director of People that any potential pay 
award would be effective post April 2018 and the new Pay Policy 
Statement for 2019/2020 would reflect that change.

RECOMMENDED to Council

1. that the draft Pay Policy Statement 2018/19, as set out at Appendix 
A to these minutes, be approved and adopted;

2. that, following approval and adoption, the Pay Policy Statement 
2018/19 be published on the Council’s website.

Page 6
Agenda Item 2



GPC - 07.12.17
Page 3

GPC/17/30.   Webcasting Update 

The Committee considered a report on user satisfaction with the existing 
webcasting platform. Members were asked to consider and comment on the 
future approach to recording meetings as outlined in the report.

Members discussed and commented on the following in summary:
 The proposed future approach for filming meetings would mean no more 

live streaming.  Concern was expressed by Members that this would not 
be appropriate for Development Management Committee, Executive and 
Full Council where public interest means there are a significant number 
of live views.  Members were concerned about losing the feeling of 
openness and transparency if meetings were no longer live streamed.

 It was acknowledged that the local media often watched webcasts to 
ensure accurate reporting.  If meetings were no longer live streamed the 
content would be of no use to the media afterwards as it would not be 
relevant.

 In relation to the user satisfaction survey a Member expressed 
dissatisfaction with the functionality of the system and wanted a system 
in place which would allow the Chairman to manage the order of the 
speakers more effectively.  The Head of Governance confirmed that the 
current system allowed the Chairman to manage the order of speakers 
but the software was not active.  If the software was activated it would 
require additional staffing resources to manage this process.

 In relation to making the webcasting system more functional it was 
proposed that it would be beneficial for the Committee to have an 
understanding of the cost implications associated with implementing 
this.

RESOLVED

that the decision concerning the future approach to recording meetings 
be delegated to the Director of Resources in consultation with the 
Chairman of the General Purposes Committee and the Leader of the 
Council in order for a decision to be made prior to the end of the contract 
with the current provider in January 2018.

GPC/17/31.   Urgent Report - Report on Proposed Amendments for Procedures for 
Motions 

The Committee considered a report which sought the Committee’s approval to 
amend the Constitution with regards to the procedures for dealing with motions 
at full Council.  The Chairman had accepted the item on the grounds of 
urgency because of the issues relating to the submission of motions which had 
arisen at the previous meeting of full Council and which the Monitoring Officer 
felt needed to be rectified as quickly as possible.

Page 7
Agenda Item 2



GPC - 07.12.17
Page 4

The Committee noted that the proposal would amend Rules 17 and 18 of Part 
4A of the Constitution, and that if these amendments were adopted there would 
be greater clarity to the procedures for debating motions resulting in better 
decision making.

Points and comments included:
 The Assistant Director Legal Services (Monitoring Officer) advised that, 

currently, the Rules did not require proposals for amendments to 
motions to be in writing or to be provided prior to a meeting.  His report 
proposed that a written notice of every amendment to a motion be 
delivered to the Monitoring Officer not later than 1 clear working day 
before the date of the meeting.  In response, however, Members 
expressed concern that this proposal could hinder the debate within a 
meeting.  It was also pointed out that proposed amendments were 
discussed at Group meetings which were held close to the start of a 
Council.  It would be more suitable, therefor to require such 
amendments to be submitted to the Monitoring Officer prior to the start 
of a Council for approval rather than 1 clear working day in advance. 

 Discussion on the submission of minor amendments and whether it 
should be a requirement that they should also be submitted in written 
form.  Debate followed on the definition of a minor amendment given 
that a few words could have a major impact on the meaning of a motion.

 A Member requested that the requirement to have written notice of an 
amendment to a motion should not include minor amendments.

 Members recognised the need for an amendment to a motion be put in 
writing in order to allow individuals to digest the implications of the 
change.

 The Committee was advised that should a proposed unwritten 
amendment arise during the course of a debate the amendment could 
still be considered should the Council Procedure Rules be suspended 
under Rule 27 of Part 4A of the Constitution.

RESOLVED

that Rule 17 of Part 4A of the Constitution be amended, as set out at 
Appendix B to these minutes, to require proposals for amendments to 
motions to be provided in writing to the Monitoring Officer prior to a 
meeting of the Council for authorisation by him and that, on receiving 
such authorisation, the proposed amendment be circulated in writing to 
the meeting.

GPC/17/32.   Protocol for Member / Officer Relations
 
The Leader of the Council expressed concern over the variation in response 
times experienced by Members to their enquiries.  He referred to page 9 of Part 
5D of the Council’s Constitution which stated that officers would make every 
effort to make a substantive response to such enquiries within 2 working days 
but if a substantive response could not be provided officers would acknowledge 

Page 8
Agenda Item 2



GPC - 07.12.17
Page 5

receipt of the enquiry.  He added that this deadline was often ignored and that, 
at times, there was no response received at all.

Points and comments included:
 Members concurred with the Leader’s concern.
 Members noted that, equally, Members should allow officers sufficient 

time to respond to their enquiries and not continue to contact them for 
responses.

RESOLVED

that the minutes of this meeting be provided to the Chief Executive and 
the Monitoring Officer to ensure that they were aware of Members’ 
concerns regarding the variation in the time taken by officers to respond 
to Member enquiries and the protocol set out in Part 5D of the 
Constitution which applies to this issue. 

GPC/17/33.   Work Programme 

Members considered a report which set out the Committee’s work programme.

The Committee was made aware that the item Change to the Constitution, 
Membership of O&S Committees’ would not now be submitted to its meeting in 
March 2018 as this issue had now been resolved.

RESOLVED

that the Committee’s work programme be approved subject to adding an 
update report on the decision made for the recording of meetings for 
consideration at its meeting on the 29 March 2018.

(Note: The meeting commenced at 10.00 a.m. and concluded at 11.13 a.m.)

Chairman …………….……………….

Dated ………………………………….

Page 9
Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Pay Policy Statement 2018/19 1

CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE COUNCIL
PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2018/19

1. INTRODUCTION

This Pay Policy Statement is produced in accordance with Chapter 8 of the Localism Act 
2011 and with regard to the guidance issued by the Secretary of State under Section 40 
of the Act.

It is made available on the Council’s website. The Council’s website also includes 
separately published salary information relating to Chief Officers as part of the 
Transparency Code.  

Salary ranges published in this policy are correct as at 31st March 2018

2. SCOPE

The Localism Act sets out the posts that are considered to be Chief Officers.  In terms of 
Central Bedfordshire, this covers the Chief Executive as Head of Paid Service, Directors, 
the Monitoring Officer, Section 151 Officer and a number of Assistant Directors/Chief 
Officers/ Group Managers and Heads of Service who are regarded as Deputy Chief 
Officers. 

In accordance with the Act, the Pay Policy Statement provides information about the 
remuneration paid to the Council’s Chief Officers and other prescribed categories of 
employee.  It covers all employees of Central Bedfordshire Council irrespective of legacy 
terms and conditions where they remain.  

This policy does not apply to staff employed by local authority schools as the Localism 
Act does not include them.

3. REMUNERATION OF CHIEF OFFICERS

The Chief Executive and Directors’ Terms and Conditions are in line with the JNC 
Conditions of Service for Chief Executives and Chief Officers.

Chief Executive

The Chief Executive is the Council’s Head of Paid Service. This is currently paid as a 
spot salary.

The decision to award any salary increase to the Chief Executive is made by the Leader.   

The starting salary paid to the Chief Executive is determined by the Appointments Sub- 
Committee, taking in to consideration guidance from the JNC National Framework and 
market forces and subject to it being within the published salary range

Page 11
Agenda Item 2

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/spending/transparency/officer-salaries/default.aspx


Appendix A

Pay Policy Statement 2018/19 2

Any appointment proposed above this published salary range would require a 
recommendation from General Purposes Committee to Full Council. 

The Head of Paid Service is additionally the Council’s Returning Officer. The 
responsibility of this role is one of a personal nature distinct from duties as an employee 
of the council. The fee paid to the Returning Officer is determined by legislation and the 
recovery of the costs of the Returning Officers' services and expenses at a UK or 
European Parliamentary election is met from Central Government funds and so does not 
constitute a cost to the Council. Where local elections occur a scale of fees and charges, 
approved by the Council, determines the total overall amount the Returning Officer may 
expend in connection with an election. The fees paid to staff who undertake election 
duties are broadly in line with central government rates. 

Directors

All Directors are paid on a spot salary.  The range in which the spot salary is determined 
is decided by the Appointments Sub- Committee, taking into consideration guidance 
from the JNC National Framework and market forces. 

The Chief Executive has delegated powers to make amendments to Directors salaries 
within the overall currently agreed range of salaries paid to Directors, to provide flexibility 
to respond to organisational changes from time to time.

The Council will apply JNC nationally agreed cost of living pay awards to the salaries of 
Directors.

Assistant Directors/Chief Officers/Group Managers and Heads of Service

Terms and Conditions for Assistant Directors/Chief Officers/ Group Managers and 
Heads of Service are in accordance with the National Joint Council (NJC) conditions of 
service for Local Government Services.

The Council’s pay scales for these posts are as follows:

Assistant Directors/Chief Officers/Group Managers - the salary scale is determined by 
the job-evaluated grade for the post but will be within the range £63,944 to £93,800. 
These are across 4 separate pay bands each with 3 incremental points.

Heads of Service - the salary scale is determined by the job-evaluated grade for the post 
but will be within the range of £49,207 - £64,122.    These are across two separate pay 
bands each of with 3 incremental points.

Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer

The post of the Council’s Chief Finance (Section 151) Officer is held by the Director of 
Resources who is paid on a spot salary.

The role of Monitoring Officer is undertaken by Quentin Baker, the Executive Director of 
LGSS Law Ltd which provides legal services to the Council.  Mr Baker is an employee of 
another local authority who second him to Central Bedfordshire Council pursuant to 

Page 12
Agenda Item 2



Appendix A

Pay Policy Statement 2018/19 3

s.113 of the Local Government Act 1972 in order to fulfil this role.

Currently the Council does not have any performance related pay systems or bonus 
schemes in place for any Chief Officers.

4. REMUNERATION OF OTHER EMPLOYEES

Terms and Conditions for Assistant Directors/ Chief Officers/ Group Managers, Heads of 
Service and remaining officers are in accordance with the National Joint Council (NJC) 
conditions of service for Local Government Services. 

The pay spine used by the Council is aligned but not directly comparable to the national 
pay spine, following a 2% reduction to pay implemented in October 2011. To protect 
lowest earners, salaries at or below £21,519 (scp 25) were exempt from this reduction.

Pay rates are negotiated at a national level through the NJC; therefore the Council will 
apply any cost of living pay awards to the revised pay scales and any non-consolidated 
payments as determined by the national pay awards.

All posts up to spinal column point (scp) 37 are evaluated under the NJC job evaluation 
scheme.  Posts on and above scp 37 are evaluated under the Hay job evaluation 
scheme.  The pay scale ranges from £15,014 to £47,727.  All employees are paid on or 
above the National Living Wage except Level 2 Apprentices in their first year of their 
apprenticeship for which the National Apprenticeship Wage is paid.

The Council does not have any performance related pay systems or bonus schemes in 
place for any employees.

Any Market Rate Supplement that is paid for specifically identified posts will be in 
accordance with the Council’s Market Rate Supplement policy.

Employees may be eligible for a business mileage related lump sum car allowance in 
accordance with the published scheme. 

5. PAY COMPARISONS

For the purposes of the Pay Policy Statement, the Council’s pay scales define the lowest 
paid employees as those whose salary falls within the lowest grade which at 31 March 
2018 has a salary of  £15,014.

The current pay relationship between the highest paid employee who is the Chief 
Executive (Head of Paid Service) and the Council’s median earner and the mean 
average salary has been measured.

For 2017/18, the ratio of pay of the Chief Executive to that of the median earner is 7.2:1 
and to that of the mean average salary is 6.4:1. 

Page 13
Agenda Item 2



Appendix A

Pay Policy Statement 2018/19 4

Both these ratios are below the expected multiples of 8.1f or the public sector as 
identified in the Hutton Review of Fair Pay in the Public Sector (March 2011) Report.

It is the Council’s policy that the salary of the Chief Executive will be no greater than 8x 
the median earner of the Council’s workforce.

6. PENSIONS PROVISIONS

The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) is open to all employees up to 75 years 
of age and with a contract of more than 3 months’ duration.  Details are set out on the 
LGPS website.

No additional pension payment to the Local Government Pension Scheme is made to 
Chief Officers.

7. SEVERANCE PROVISIONS FOR ALL EMPLOYEES INCLUDING CHIEF 
OFFICERS

The Council will normally pay severance in redundancy situations based upon the 
Statutory Redundancy Payment Scheme using actual weekly salary where this is greater 
than statutory redundancy pay.  Any council employee with 2 years’ continuous service, 
including Chief Officers, irrespective of hours worked, is eligible for a redundancy 
payment should he or she be dismissed by reason of redundancy.
 
Any request for early retirement on the grounds of efficiency of the service must receive 
member approval.  

The Council will meet its statutory and contractual obligations in respect of any 
severance package, and does not make discretionary payments.  However, if in 
exceptional circumstances a discretionary payment is proposed, the details of the full 
package would require a recommendation by General Purposes Committee to Full 
Council for approval

8. REVIEW   

The Localism Act 2011 requires relevant authorities to prepare a Pay Policy Statement 
for each subsequent financial year.  Our next Statement is scheduled to be for 2019/20 
and will be submitted to Full Council for approval by 31 March 2019.

Should it be necessary to amend this 2018/19 Statement during the year that it applies, 
an appropriate resolution will be made by Full Council.   

Page 14
Agenda Item 2

http://www.lgps.org.uk/lge/core/page.do?pageId=1


 
 

Appendix B 
Amended Extracts – Tracked Changes 

 
PART 4A 
 
NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
17.1  Notice 
 
17.1.1  Except for motions which can be moved without notice under Rule 

18, written notice of every motion, signed by the member of the 
Council, must be delivered to the Monitoring Officer not later than 7 
clear working days before the date of the meeting. These will be 
entered into a book open to public inspection. 

 
17.1.2 Written notice of every amendment to a motion, signed by the 

member of the Council, must be delivered to the Monitoring Officer 
prior to the meeting.  These will be entered into a book open to 
public inspection. 

 
 
17.1.23  Up to two motions on notice may be included in the business of the 

annual and the budget-setting meetings of Council, subject to 
submission of notice to the Monitoring Officer 10 clear working 
days before the date of the meeting, for the Chairman in 
consultation with the Monitoring Officer to determine whether the 
matters is of sufficient urgency and significance to justify inclusion 
on the agenda for that meeting. 

 
17.2  Motions set out in the agenda 
 
17.2.1  Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the 

agenda in the order in which notice was received, unless the 
member giving notice states, in writing, that they propose to move it 
to a later meeting or withdraw it. 

 
17.3  Scope 
 
17.3.1  Motions must be about matters for which the Council has 

responsibility or which directly affect Central Bedfordshire. 
 
17.3.2  It shall be the duty of the Monitoring Officer, after consultation with 

the chairman, to refuse to accept any motion or amendment to a 
motion which he/she deems to be illegal, improper or out of order. 

 
 
 
 

Page 15
Agenda Item 2



17.4  Withdrawal 
 
17.4.1  If a motion appearing on the summons or an amendment to such a 

motion is not moved (either by its author or by some other member 
on his/her behalf) it will be treated is withdrawn, unless the Council 
agrees its postponement. 

 
17.5  Motions affecting persons employed by the Council 
 
17.5.1  If any matter arises at a meeting to which the Local Government 

Act 1972 applies by virtue of Section 100 (A) (2) as to the 
appointment, promotion, dismissal, salary, superannuation, or 
conditions of service or as to the conduct of any person employed 
by the Council, such matter shall not be the subject of discussion 
until the Council has decided whether or not the power to exclude 
the public under Section 100 (A) (2) of the Local Government Act 
1972 shall be exercised. 

 
17.6  Automatic Reference to Executive or a Committee 
 
17.6.1  If the subject matter of the motion is within the remit of the 

Executive or a committee, upon being moved and formally 
seconded, save as provided in 17.6.3 below, it shall stand referred 
without discussion to the Executive or such relevant committee, 
including overview and scrutiny committees, as the chairman may 
determine (upon taking the advice of the Monitoring Officer if 
appropriate), for consideration and report, in the case of a 
committee, to the Council as soon as practical. At that time the 
motion shall be considered with any such report which shall include 
any appropriate risk assessments. 

 
17.6.2  The Council may permit a motion to be dealt with at the meeting at 

which it is brought forward, provided that the subject matter is 
urgent or that it is appropriate to deal with the matter and that the 
motion does not seek to determine a matter which is the 
responsibility of the Executive, subject to proper information 
regarding the matters referred to above. 

 
17.6.3  If the subject of a motion relates to a matter which is the 

responsibility of the Executive, it may, with the consent of the 
Council signified without discussion, be debated at the Council 
meeting prior to being referred to the Executive. 

 
17.6.4  The views and conclusions arising from the debate under 17.6.3 

above shall be referred to the Executive. The chairman may, if 
he/she considers it appropriate take a vote to determine the 
conclusions arising from the debate. 

 
17.6.5  The Executive shall determine any motion referred to it by the 

Council as falling within its remit. 

Page 16
Agenda Item 2



 
17.7  Right of Mover of Motion to Attend meeting 
 
17.7.1  The mover of a motion that has been referred to the Executive or a 

committee shall be entitled to attend the meeting to which it has 
been referred and to introduce the motion. 

 
18. MOTIONS WHICH MAY BE MOVED WITHOUT NOTICE 
 
18.1  The following motions may be moved without notice:- 
 
18.1.1  to appoint a chairman for the meeting or the remainder of the 

meeting 
 
18.1.2  in relation to the accuracy of the minutes 
 
18.1.3  to vary the order of business in the agenda 
 
18.1.4  to refer an item back to the Executive or a Committee 
 
18.1.5  to appoint members to a forum arising from an item set out in the 

summons 
 
18.1.6  to receive reports or adopt recommendations of the Executive, 

committees, or officers and to receive reports of the Bedfordshire 
Police Authority or the Bedfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 

 
18.1.7  to withdraw a motion 
 
18.1.8  to seek an extension of the time limit for speeches 
 
18.1.9  to amend a motion 
 
18.1.910  to proceed to next item of business 
 
18.1.101  that the question be now put to the vote 
 
18.1.112  to adjourn the debate or the meeting 
 
18.1.123  to suspend one or more Council Procedure Rules in accordance 

with Rule No 27.1 
 
18.1.134  formally to exclude the press and public from the meeting in 

accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 
4F 

 
18.1.145  under Rule 25.3, not to hear a Member further 
 
18.1.156  under Rule 25.4, that a Member be asked to leave the meeting 
 

Page 17
Agenda Item 2



18.1.167  to give any consent required by the constitution or these Rules. 
 
19.  RULES OF DEBATE 
 
19.1  No speeches until the motion or amendment is seconded 
 
19.1.1  No motion or amendment shall be discussed unless it has been 

proposed and seconded. 
 
19.2  Right to require motion or amendment in writing 
 
19.2.1  The chairman may require a motion or amendment to be put in 

writing and handed to him/her before it is discussed (unless the 
chairman agrees that the motion or amendment is so brief as to 
make this unnecessary). This requirement does not apply to 
Notices of Motion under Rule No. 17. 

 
19.3  Seconder’s Speech 
 
19.3.1  When seconding a motion or amendment, a Member may reserve 

their speech until later in the debate. 
 
19.4  Executive Member’s Speech 
 
19.4.1  The Chairman shall give the relevant Executive Member an 

opportunity to respond to the motion, for up to 5 minutes. 
 
19.5  Content and length of speeches 
 
19.5.1  Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to a 

personal explanation, point of order or point of information. Subject 
to the provisions in Rule 19.4.1,19.5.2 and 19.5.3 below, no speech 
may exceed 3 minutes. 

 
19.5.2  The mover of a motion or an amendment may speak for up to 5 

minutes when proposing the motion or amendment; 
 
19.5.3  A right of reply exercised under Rule 19.10 shall normally not 

exceed two minutes in length. 
 
19.6  Speeches in relation to motions for the adoption of 

recommendations of the Executive for the approval of the 
annual budget and Council Tax 

 
19.6.1 The length of speeches in relation to motions for the adoption of 

recommendations of the Executive for the approval of the annual 
budget and Council Tax, shall be as follows:- 

 

Page 18
Agenda Item 2



19.6.1.1  The Leader of the Council and relevant portfolio holder shall have a 
total of 30 minutes between them to speak on the motion, the 
actual time allocated to each to be determined by the Leader; 

 
19.6.1.2  The Minority Group Leaders or their nominees will have a total of 

30 minutes, shared equally between each of the groups to speak 
on this item. 

 
19.6.1.3  Any member will have the right to speak up to twice in relation to a 

motion for the adoption of the annual budget and Council Tax. 
 
19.7  When a Member may speak again 
 
19.7.1  A Member who has spoken on a motion may not speak again 

whilst it is the subject of debate except:- 
 
19.7.1.1  to speak once an amendment is moved by another member; 
 
19.7.1.2  to move a further amendment if the motion has been amended 

since he/she last spoke; 
 
19.7.1.3  if his/her first speech was on an amendment moved by another 

member, to speak on the main issue (whether or not the 
amendment on which he/she spoke was carried); 

 
19.7.1.4  in exercise of the right of reply under Rule 19.10; 
 
19.7.1.5  on a point of order under Rule 19.13; 
 
19.7.1.6  by way of personal explanation under Rule 19.14; 
 
19.7.1.7  by way of a point of information under Rule 19.15. 
 
19.8  Amendments to motions 
 
19.8.1  An amendment must be relevant to the motion and will either be:- 
 
19.8.1.1  to refer the matter to the Executive or a committee; 
 
19.8.1.2  to leave out words; 
 
19.8.1.3  to leave out words and insert or add others; 
 
19.8.1.4  to insert or add words. 
 
 as long as the effect of 19.8.1.1 to 19.8.1.4 is not merely to negate 

the motion (i.e. no amendment may be moved which would have 
the same effect as voting against the motion) 

 

Page 19
Agenda Item 2



19.8.2  Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one 
time. No further amendment may be moved until the amendment 
under discussion has been disposed of. 

 
19.8.3  If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original 

motion may be moved. 
 
 
19.8.4  If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place 

of the original motion. This becomes the substantive motion to 
which any further amendments are moved. 

 
19.8.5  After an amendment has been carried, the chairman will (if 

necessary) read out the amended motion before accepting any 
further amendments, or if there are none, put it to the vote. 

 
19.9  Alteration of motion 
 
19.9.1  A Member may alter a motion of which he/she has given notice 

with the consent of the Council. The Council’s consent will be 
signified without discussion. 

 
19.9.2  A member may alter a motion which he/she has moved without 

notice, with the consent of both the Council and the seconder. The 
Council’s consent will be signified without discussion. 

 
19.10  Withdrawal of motion 
 
19.10.1  A Member may withdraw a motion which he/she has moved with 

the consent of both the Council and the seconder. The Council’s 
consent will be signified without discussion. No Member may speak 
on the motion after the mover has asked permission to withdraw it 
unless permission is refused. 

 
19.11  Right of reply 
 
19.11.1 The mover of a motion has a right of reply at the end of the debate 

on the motion, immediately before it is put to the vote. 
 
19.11.2  If an amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion has 

the right of reply at the close of the debate on the amendment, but 
may not otherwise speak on it. 

 
19.11.3  The mover of an amendment has the right of reply at the close of 

the debate on the amendment prior to the right of reply of the 
mover of the original motion under 19.10.1 above. 

 
19.11.4  A right of reply should not normally exceed two minutes in length 
 
 

Page 20
Agenda Item 2



19.12  Motions which may be moved during debate 
 
19.12.1  When a motion is under debate, no other motion may be moved 

except the following procedural motions:- 
 
19.12 .1.1 to withdraw a motion; 
 
19.12.1.2  to amend a motion; 
 
19.12.1.3  to proceed to the next business; 
 
19.12.1.4  that the question be now put; 
 
19.12.1.5  to adjourn a debate; 
 
19.12.1.6  to adjourn a meeting; 
 
19.12.1.7  to suspend these Rules in accordance with Rule 27.1; 
 
19.12.1.8  to exclude the press and public in accordance with the Access to 

Information Rules in Part 4F; and 
 
19.12.1.9  not to hear further a Member named under Rule 25.3 or to exclude 

them from the meeting under Rule 25.4. 
 
19.13  Closure motions 
 
19.13.1  A Member may move, without comment, the following motions at 

the end of a speech of another member:- 
 
19.13.1.1  to proceed to the next business; 
 
19.13.1.2  that the question be now put; 
 
19.12.1.3  to adjourn a debate; or 
 
19.12.1.4  to adjourn a meeting. 
 
19.13.2  Proceed to next business: If a motion to proceed to the next 

business is seconded and the chairman thinks the item has been 
sufficiently discussed, he/she will give the mover of the original 
motion a right of reply and then put the procedural motion to the 
vote. If carried the motion before the meeting shall be abandoned 
and not put to the meeting. If an amendment is under discussion, 
the discussion shall be abandoned and the meeting shall return to 
discussion of the motion in its original form. (This will not prevent 
the moving of further amendments.) 

 
19.13.3  Closure of Debate: If a motion that the question be now put (ie that 

discussion shall end and the vote on the matter being considered 

Page 21
Agenda Item 2



be taken without delay) is seconded and the chairman thinks the 
item has been sufficiently discussed, he/she will put the procedural 
motion to the vote. If carried it shall have the effect of ending 
discussion and securing a decision once the mover of the original 
motion has summed up. 

 
19.13.4  If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is 

seconded and the chairman thinks the item has not been 
sufficiently discussed and cannot reasonably be discussed on that 
occasion, he/she will put the procedural motion to the vote without 
giving the mover of the original motion the right to reply. 

 
19.14  Points of Order 
 
19.14.1  A Member may raise a point of order at any time. The chairman will 

hear them immediately. A point of order may only relate to an 
alleged breach of these Council Rules of Procedure or the law. The 
Member must indicate the rule or law and the way in which he/she 
considers it has been broken. The ruling of the chairman on the 
matter will be final. 

 
19.15  Personal Explanation 
 
19.15.1  A Member may make a personal explanation at any time. A 

personal explanation may only relate to some material part of an 
earlier speech by the Member which may appear to have been 
misunderstood in the present debate. The ruling of the chairman on 
the admissibility of a personal explanation will be final. 

 
19.16  Point of Information  
 
19.16.1  A Member may raise a point of information at any time. A point of 

information may only be made where a Member is aware that the 
Council has incorrect information before it on a material point. The 
Member who raises the point of information must be able to cite 
evidence to support their statement. The ruling of the chairman on 
the admissibility of a point of information will be final. 

 
19.17  Officers addressing the Council 
 
19.17.1  Officers will not normally be called upon to address the Council or 

to answer questions unless specifically requested to do so by the 
Chairman of the Council. This rule shall not apply to the provision 
of procedural advice by the Monitoring Officer or to the Head of 
Paid Service and Chief Finance Officer when acting in their 
statutory roles. 

Page 22
Agenda Item 2



1

Central Bedfordshire Council

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE            29 March 2018 

COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Report of Charles Warboys: Director of Resources.
(charles.warboys@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk) 

Lead Officer: Brian Dunleavy, Democratic Services Manager. 
(brian.dunleavy@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)

Purpose of this report 

This report invites the Committee to consider the Draft Recommendations in 
relation to the Community Governance Review for the whole of the Council’s 
area.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Committee is asked to:

1. Consider the present position, including the outcome of consultation to 
date, concerning the Community Governance Review for the whole of 
the Council’s area referred to below and set out in the review report at 
Appendix A. 

2. Approve the publication of the Draft Recommendations within the 
attached Appendix A for consultation with interested parties.

Background

1. The Committee, at its meeting on 26 October 2017, resolved to 
undertake a Community Governance Review of the whole of the 
Central Bedfordshire area.  

2. Stage One of the review, which commenced on the 1 November 
2017 and ceased on 31 January 2018, invited all town and parish 
councils and selected stakeholders to respond to the consultation 
document. 

Page 23
Agenda Item 7



2

3. The attached Appendix details the outcome of those submissions, 
including the review of parish and parish ward boundaries and the 
consequential changes to electoral arrangements.

4. It is for this Committee to consider the report and whether to 
recommend its adoption for Stage 3, ‘Draft Recommendations’ for 
further consultation with stakeholders, interested parties and 
residents.

5. Any submissions received from Stage 3 will be considered at Stage 
4, preparation of ‘Final Recommendations’ which will then be 
subject to approval by this Committee at the meeting in August.  

Criteria for undertaking a review

6. Members are reminded that a Community Governance Review 
offers the opportunity to put in place strong, clearly defined 
boundaries and to remove any anomalous parish boundaries.
.

7. The Council is required to ensure that community governance within 
the area under review will be:

 reflective of the identities and interests of the community in 
that area; and

 effective and convenient

Constraints

8. The Council may not alter the boundary of Central Bedfordshire, 
and may not alter the boundaries of other principal councils. 
However, the Review may make recommendations to the Local 
Government Boundary Committee for England (LGBCE) as to what 
related alterations (if any) should be made to the boundaries of the 
electoral areas of any affected principal council. In effect, the 
LGBCE needs to have recommendations that it can implement or 
reject; it does not have powers to modify recommendations.

Consultation

9. The Community Governance consultation was hosted on Central 
Bedfordshire Council’s webpages. Over the course of the 
consultation the pages received a total of 3799 pageviews, 
demonstrating a high level of interest and reach of the campaign. 
The top method used to find information was via council email 
bulletins with 1337-page views. Others included; 312-page views 
directly from google, 222 from Facebook and 453 from other 
sources. Overall. 242 respondents took part in the consultation, as 
shown in the table below.

Page 24
Agenda Item 7



3

Stage 3 – Publication of Draft Recommendations 

10. The Council is required to publish its draft recommendations and to 
consult and seek the views of interested parties on those draft 
recommendations.  As with the invitation of initial submissions, the 

Page 25
Agenda Item 7



4

Council will seek the views of the stakeholders identified previously 
(e.g. town and parish councils, Members of Parliament, Chambers 
of Trade/Commerce, other business groups, Residents’ and 
Community Associations, Voluntary Services Organisations and 
CAB’s. Additionally, where recommendations affect specific 
properties or communities, a more targeted engagement will be 
made.

11. The timetable for stage 3 submissions is 30 March to 30 June 2018. 

Council Priorities

12. This report contributes to the Council’s requirement to bring about 
improved community engagement. Government guidance states 
that ‘Ultimately, the recommendations made in a community 
governance review ought to bring about improved community 
engagement, more cohesive communities, better local democracy 
and result in more effective and convenient delivery of local 
services.’

Corporate Implications

Risk Management

13. The highest risk to the Authority is that the Community Governance 
Review is conducted otherwise than in accordance with the 
statutory guidance, or contrary to the law concerning such reviews.  

14. The Council will be mindful of Government guidelines and policy 
and take this into consideration throughout the review

15. To mitigate against the potential for judicial review, the Council will 
ensure that all decisions are evidence based.

Staffing (including Trade Unions)

16. None resulting from this report.

Legal Implications

17. The Local Government & Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 
(part 4) devolved power from the Secretary of State to principal 
councils to carry out community governance reviews and put in 
place or make changes to local governance arrangements.

18. Such reviews concern the parishing arrangements for the area of 
the principal council and the electoral arrangements for any related 
parish council.  The principal council, may by order, give effect to 
the recommendations made in the review. 

Page 26
Agenda Item 7



5

 
Financial Implications

19. The anticipated costs for the review relate to the cost of the external 
support required from LGSS and the statutory obligation to 
communicate with local government electors about the review. 

20. The costs are not expected to exceed £5000 and can be borne by 
the budget for Electoral Registration.

Equalities Implications

21. Central Bedfordshire Council has a statutory duty to promote 
equality of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation and foster good relations in respect 
of nine protected characteristics; age disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnerships, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

22. There are no direct equalities implications that have been identified 
as relevant to this report.  However, achieving a more even 
distribution of electoral representation in every parish will provide an 
opportunity for fairer representation. 

Conclusion 

23. The Council is under a duty to carry out a Community Governance 
Review; there is an opportunity to carry out the review before the 
scheduled parish elections in May 2019.

Appendices:

Appendix A – Draft Recommendations 

Background Papers:      Local Government and Public Involvement in Health 
Act 2007

Local Government Act 1972

Guidance on community governance reviews 
published   jointly by the Department for 
Communities and Local Government and the Local 
Government Boundary Commission – March 2010
    

Location of Background Papers: N/A

Page 27
Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A 

Community Governance 
Review

Draft Recommendations  

Page 29
Agenda Item 7



2

Page 30
Agenda Item 7



3

Contents

1.  Introduction………………………………………………………………………………… 7

2. The Review…………………………………………………………………………………… 7

3. Parish and Ward Boundaries………….……………………………………………. 8

4.  Draft Recommendations by Parish……………………………………………….  8

5. Next steps- Representations……………………………………………………….  8

6.  Data protection…………………………………………………………………………… 8

7. Ampthill Parish……………………………………………………………………………. 11

8. Arlesey Parish…………………………………………….……………………………..... 15

9. Aspley Guise Parish……………………………………………………………………… 16

10. Aspley Heath Parish…………………………………………………………………….. 17

11. Astwick Parish……………………………………………………………..………………. 18

12. Barton-Le-Clay Parish…………………………………………………………….…….. 19

13. Battlesden Parish…………………………………………………………………………. 20

14. Biggleswade Parish………………………………………………………………………. 21

15. Blunham Parish……………………………………………………………………………. 25

16. Brogborough Parish……………………………………………………………………… 27

17. Caddington Parish………………………………………………………………………… 28

18. Campton & Chicksands Parish………………………………………………………. 31

19. Chalgrave Parish…………………………………………………………………………... 32 

20. Chalton Parish………………………………………………………………………………. 33

21. Clifton Parish……………………………………………………………………………..…. 34

22. Clophill Parish……………………………………………………………………………….. 37

23. Cranfield Parish…………………………………………………………………………….. 38

24. Dunstable Parish…………………………………………………………………………… 39

25. Dunton Parish………………………………………………………………………………. 45

26. Eaton Bray……………………………………………………………………………………. 46

27. Edworth Parish…………………………………………………………………………….. 47

28. Eggington Parish………………………………………………………………………….. 48

29 Eversholt Parish………………………………………………………………………..…. 49

30. Everton Parish……………………………………………………………………………... 50

31. Eyeworth Parish…………………………………………………………………………… 51 

Page 31
Agenda Item 7



4

32. Fairfield Parish…………………………………………………………………………….. 52

33. Flitton & Greenfield Parish………………………………………………………..… 53

34. Flitwick Parish…………………………………………………………………………..… 54

35. Gravenhurst Parish………………………………………………………………..……. 55

36. Great Billington Parish…………………………………………………………..……. 56

37. Harlington Parish………………………………………………………………………… 57

38. Haynes Parish……………………………………………………………………………… 58

39. Heath & Reach Parish…………………………………………………………………. 59

40. Henlow Parish…………………………………………………………………………….. 60

41. Hockliffe Parish…………………………………………………………………………… 63

42. Houghton Conquest Parish…………………………………………………………. 64

43. Houghton Regis Parish………………………………………………………………… 67

44. Hulcote & Salford Parish……………………………………………………………… 73

45. Husborne Crawley Parish…………………………………………………………….. 74

46. Hyde Parish………………………………………………………………………………….. 75

47. Kensworth Parish…………………………………………………………………………. 76

48. Langford Parish…………………………………………………………………………….. 79

49. Leighton-Linslade Parish……………………………………………………………….. 80

50. Lidlington Parish……………………………………………………………………………. 85

51. Marston Moretaine Parish…………………………………………………………….. 86

52. Maulden Parish……………………………………………………………………………... 87

53. Meppershall Parish………………………………………………………………………… 89

54. Millbrook Parish…………………………………………………………………………….. 90

55. Milton Bryan Parish………………………………………………………………………… 91

56. Moggerhanger Parish…………………………………………………………………….. 92

57. Northill Parish…………………………………………………………………………….….. 95

58. Old Warden Parish…………………………………………………………………….…… 97

59. Potsgrove Parish…………………………………………………………………………..... 98

60. Potton Parish………………………………………………………………………………….. 99

61. Pulloxhill Parish………………………………………………………………………………. 100

62. Ridgmont Parish……………………………………………………………………………… 101

63. Sandy Parish…………………………………………………………………………..………. 102

64. Shefford Parish……………………………………………………………………………….. 105

Page 32
Agenda Item 7



5

65. Shillington Parish……………………………………………………………………..…… 109

66. Silsoe Parish………………………………………………………………………………….. 110

67. Slip End Parish………………………………………………………………………………. 111

68. Southill Parish……………………………………………………………………………….. 112

69. Stanbridge Parish………………………………………………………………………….. 113

70. Steppingley Parish…………………………………………………………………………. 114

71. Stondon Parish………………………………………………………………………………. 115

72. Stotfold Parish…………………………………………………………………………..…… 117

73. Streatley Parish……………………………………………………………………….…….. 118

74. Studham Parish………………………………………………………………………..……. 119

75. Sundon Parish………………………………………………………………………………… 120

76. Sutton Parish…………………………………………………………………….……………. 121

77. Tempsford Parish……………………………………………………………………….…… 122

78. Tilsworth Parish………………………………………………………………………………. 123

79. Tingrith Parish…………………………………………………………………………………. 124

80. Toddington Parish…………………………………………………………………..………. 125

81. Totternhoe Parish……………………………………………………………………..……. 126

82. Westoning Parish……………………………………………………………………………. 129

83. Whipsnade Parish………………………………………………………………….……….. 130

84. Woburn Parish……………………………………………………………………………….. 131

85. Wrestlingworth & Cockayne Hatley Parish……………………………..………. 132

Page 33
Agenda Item 7



6

Page 34
Agenda Item 7



7

1 Introduction
1.1 Central Bedfordshire Council, at its meeting on Thursday 26 October 2017 
resolved that a Community Governance Review be conducted for the whole of the 
Council’s area in accordance with Part 4 Chapter 3 of the Local Government and 
Public Involvement and Health (LGPIH) Act 2007

2 The Review
2.1 The Review commenced on 1 November 2017, when the Council published a 
Terms of Reference document and invited initial submissions from individuals or 
organisations who had an interest in the Review.  In the Terms of Reference, the 
Council published a timetable for the Review.

2.2 A briefing session was held at the Town and Parish Council Conference on 21 
November 2017.  All parish and town councils were invited to attend with the 
majority of the towns and parishes being represented. Officers also attended, by 
invitation, Houghton Regis Town Council to outline the remit of the review and 
process.

2.3 The formal consultation period, inviting interested parties to make initial 
submissions, commenced on 1 November 2017 and closed on 1 February 2018.  The 
consultation was published on the Council’s web site, local libraries and public notice 
boards, but more targeted engagement was sent to:

 All Central Bedfordshire Councillors;
 All Town and Parish Councils;
 Bedfordshire Association of Town/Parish Councils;
 Central Bedfordshire Members of Parliament;
 Residents’/Tenants’ Associations;
 Businesses/Business Forums/Small Business Federations/Area Forums;
 Bedfordshire Green Business Network;
 Bedfordshire & Luton Chamber of Business;
 Leighton Buzzard Business Club;
 Chambers of Trade/Commerce;
 Bedfordshire Rural Communities Charities;
 Community Voluntary Services;
 Voluntary Community Action;
 Citizens Advice Bureau – local offices;
 Campaign to Protect Rural England (Bedfordshire);
 Age Concern/Golden years/Over 60’s Groups/Senior Citizens;
 Bedfordshire Police;
 Bedfordshire Police & Crime Commissioner;
 Acting Returning Officer, Bedford Borough Council; and
 Acting Returning Officer, Luton Borough Council.

2.4 In preparing these draft proposals, the Council has been mindful of the initial 
submissions that have been received, which are referenced in this document. The 
Council also has the role of balancing these submissions against the wider 

Page 35
Agenda Item 7



8

requirements and duties that are placed upon it in the 2007 Act.  In particular, the 
Council has a duty to ensure that community governance within its area under 
review reflects the identities and interests of the community in that area; and is 
effective and convenient.

2.5 In assessing these criteria, the community governance review is required to 
consider: 

 The impact of community governance arrangements on community cohesion; 
and

 The size, population and boundaries of a local community or parish. 

3 Parish and Ward Boundaries
3.1 Principal council wards cannot be altered by the principal council in a 
Community Governance Order.  However, consequential arrangements can be made 
by the Local Government Boundary Committee for England (LGBCE) as to what 
related alterations should be made to the boundaries of the principal council wards, 
and the LGBCE may by order give effect to these recommendations. 

4 Draft Recommendations by Parish
4.1 As the Community Governance Review includes a review of the whole of the 
Central Bedfordshire Council area, this document is divided into sections relating to 
each parish to assist the reader to follow the proposed changes.

4.2 Each section follows a consistent structure, including a summary of the existing 
boundary areas, warding, the total number of councillors, the baseline electorate 
(September 2017) the projected 5-year electorate forecasts, the ratio of electors per 
councillor and the variance of the ratio from the average. Details of any 
representations received have been referenced, a summary of the 2011 and 2015 
elections and an explanation for any proposed changes have also been included.

5 Next steps- Representations
5.1 All residents and other persons or organisations wishing to make 
representations on the draft recommendations may do so by completing the 
questionnaire on our website at www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/consultations or 
you can pick up a paper copy from your local library or Central Bedfordshire Council 
offices at Chicksands or Dunstable.

5.2 Representations that are received will be considered by judging them against 
the criteria in the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.
5.3 The deadline for receipt of comments 30 June 2018.

5.4 It would be helpful if you could make it clear in your response whether you 
represent an organisation or group, and in what capacity you are responding.

6 Data Protection Act 1998
6.1 Please note that your personal details supplied in your submission will be held 
and/or computerised by Central Bedfordshire Council for the purpose of this 

Page 36
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/consultations


9

consultation.  The information collected may be disclosed to officers and members 
of the Council and its’ partners involved in this consultation.  Summarised 
information from the submission may be published, but no individual details will be 
disclosed under these circumstances.  Your personal details will be safeguarded and 
will not be divulged to any other individuals or organisations for any other purposes.

 

Page 37
Agenda Item 7



10

Page 38
Agenda Item 7



11

Ampthill

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 12 6250 6881 521 573 +80%

1.1 Ampthill parish has a Town Council.  It is unwarded and has 12 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 371 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Flitwick, Houghton 
Conquest, Maulden, Millbrook and Steppingley. The parish, together with the 
parishes of Clophill and Maulden are coterminous within the district ward of 
Ampthill.

1.3 The Town Council did not submit a response to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, 6 online responses of which the majority recommended no 
changes were received from the public can be found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx. 

1.4 Whilst the 2011 elections were uncontested with 11 nominations and the 2015 
elections were contested with 13 nominations and in consideration of the further 
planned development no changes to the number of parish councillors is 
recommended at this time.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 10.1%.

1.6 Development to the east of the town in the 1980’s and 90’s extended across 
the parish boundaries of Ampthill and Maulden (as shown at Appendix A1).  It is 
therefore recommended that this anomaly is corrected by formally incorporating the 
relevant properties into the parish of Ampthill. Additionally, the development at 
Houghton Park Farm in the north of the parish has extended into the parish of 
Houghton Conquest (as shown at Appendix A2). It is therefore recommended that 
this anomaly is corrected by formally incorporating the relevant properties into the 
parish of Ampthill.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Ampthill should remain unchanged.

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Ampthill Town Council remain 
unchanged (twelve).

2.3 That the boundaries of the parish be changed to incorporate the properties at 
Numbers 1 to 8 Yew Walk; 8 to 68 (evens) Cherry Tree Way; 7, 9 & 27 Exton Close 
and 1 to 7 (odds) Ailesbury Road together with the properties Houghton Park Farm, 
Houghton Park House and The Old Stables.

Page 39
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


12

APPENDIX A1

Page 40
Agenda Item 7



13

APPENDIX A2

Page 41
Agenda Item 7



14

Page 42
Agenda Item 7



15

Arlesey

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 15 4424 4682 295 312 -2%

1.1 Arlesey parish has a Town Council.  It is unwarded and has 15 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 152 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Astwick, Fairfield, 
Henlow, Langford and Stotfold. The parish, together with the parishes of Clifton, 
Henlow and Stondon are coterminous within the district ward of Arlesey.

1.3 The Town Council together with 3 members of the public completed the online 
consultation; with the Town Council suggesting a reduction in the number of 
councillors. However, this proposal was not supported in the 3 submissions from the 
public.  The online responses received can be found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx. 

1.4 The 2011 elections were uncontested with 14 nominations. However, the 2015 
elections were contested with 22 nominations. Nevertheless, it is recommended that 
the number of councillors be reduced to 12 which would have the effect of 
increasing the ratio of electors to seats to 390 (+22% variance from average).

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 5.8%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Arlesey should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Arlesey Town Council be reduced to 
twelve; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Arlesey. 

Page 43
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


16

Aspley Guise

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 12 1818 1833 152 153 -52%

1.1 Aspley Guise parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 12 seats on 
the Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 9 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Aspley Heath, 
Hulcote & Salford, Husborne Crawley and Woburn. The parish, together with the 
parishes of Aspley Heath, Battlesden, Eversholt, Husborne Crawley, Milton Bryan, 
Potsgrove and Woburn are coterminous within the district ward of Aspley & 
Woburn.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 The 2011 and 2015 elections were uncontested with 12 nominations in 2011 
and only 4 nominations in 2015. Consequently, it is recommended that the number 
of councillors be reduced to 7 which would have the effect of increasing the ratio of 
electors to seats to 262 (-18% variance from average).

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 0.8%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Aspley Guise should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Aspley Guise Parish Council be 
reduced to seven; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Aspley Guise.

Page 44
Agenda Item 7



17

Aspley Heath

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 9 521 536 58 60 -81%

1.1 Aspley Heath parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 9 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 9 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Aspley Guise and 
Woburn. The parish, together with the parishes of Aspley Guise, Battlesden, 
Eversholt, Husborne Crawley, Milton Bryan, Potsgrove and Woburn are coterminous 
within the district ward of Aspley & Woburn.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 The 2011 elections were uncontested with only 6 nominations and the 2015 
elections were uncontested with 9 nominations. Consequently, it is recommended 
that the number of councillors be reduced to 7 which would have the effect of 
increasing the ratio of electors to seats to 77 (-76% variance from average).

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 2.9%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Aspley Heath should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Aspley Heath Parish Council be 
reduced to seven; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Aspley Heath

Page 45
Agenda Item 7



18

Astwick

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors to 

Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable N/A 24 24 N/A

1.1 Astwick is one of the seven parishes which do not have a Council but meets as 
a parish meeting.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Arlesey, 
Biggleswade, Edworth, Langford and Stotfold. The parish, together with the parishes 
of Fairfield, Langford and Stotfold are coterminous within the district ward of 
Stotfold & Langford

1.3 The Parish Meeting nor the public submitted a response to the invitation of 
initial submissions.

1.4 There are only 12 properties and 24 electors in the parish and there is no 
anticipated growth over the next 5 years. The parish operates as a parish meeting 
and has a relatively strong sense of identity.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is nil.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Astwick should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the parish should not have a parish council; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Astwick.

Page 46
Agenda Item 7



19

Barton-Le-Clay

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 13 4081 4100 314 315 -1%

1.1 Barton-Le-Clay parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 13 seats on 
the Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 11 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Pulloxhill, 
Shillington, Silsoe and Streatley. The parish is coterminous with the district ward of 
Barton-Le-Clay.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 The 2011 and 2015 elections were uncontested with 10 nominations on each 
occasion. Consequently, it is recommended that the number of councillors be 
reduced to 10 which would have the effect of increasing the ratio of electors to seats 
to 410 (+29% variance from average).

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years 0.5%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Barton-Le-Clay should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Barton-Le-Clay Parish Council be 
reduced to ten; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Barton-Le-Clay.

Page 47
Agenda Item 7



20

Battlesden

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors to 

Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable N/A 28 28 N/A

1.1 Battlesden is one of the seven parishes which do not have a Council but meets 
as a parish meeting.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Chalgrave, Heath & 
Reach, Hockliffe, Milton Bryan, Potsgrove and Toddington. The parish, together with 
the parishes of Aspley Guise, Aspley Heath, Eversholt, Husborne Crawley, Milton 
Bryan, Potsgrove and Woburn are coterminous within the district ward of Aspley & 
Woburn.

1.3 The Parish Meeting nor the public submitted a response to the invitation of 
initial submissions.

1.4 There are only 17 properties and 28 electors in the parish and there is no 
anticipated growth over the next 5 years. The parish operates as a parish meeting 
and has a relatively strong sense of identity.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is nil.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Battlesden should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the parish should not have a parish council; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Battlesden.

Page 48
Agenda Item 7



21

Biggleswade

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Current 
Ratio 

Electors to 
Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors to 
Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Holme 3 1834 1849 611 616 +93%

Ivel 7 6769 8284 967 1183 +271%

Stratton 5 6801 6801 1360 1360 +326%

1.1 Biggleswade parish has a Town Council and is currently divided into 3 wards. 
Biggleswade Holme with 3 councillors, Biggleswade Ivel with 7 councillors and 
Biggleswade Stratton with 5 councillors. The forecast development to March 2023 is 
estimated at a further 900 dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Astwick, Dunton, 
Edworth, Langford, Northill, Old Warden, Sandy, Southill, and Sutton.  The parish, is 
coterminous within the 2 district wards of Biggleswade North and Biggleswade 
South.

1.3 The submission from the Town Council to extend the boundaries to the north, 
south and east (as shown at Appendices B1 and B2) together with the changes in the 
number of parish ward councillors can be found on 
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx   Further 
submissions from both the public and interest parties can also be seen via the same 
link. The submission from the Town Council, supported by the development 
promoter, to extend the parish boundaries into the neighbouring parishes of 
Dunton, Edworth and Sutton has not been considered at this stage but will instead 
be a matter for consideration at a later and separate review involving all the parishes 
concerned. 

1.4 The 2011 elections were contested in all 3 wards with 6 nominations for 
Holme; 10 nominations for Ivel and 7 nominations for Stratton.  However, for the 
2015 elections the Holme and Stratton wards were uncontested with 3 and 5 
nominations respectively. The Ivel ward was contested with 8 nominations.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years for the Holme ward is 
0.8%; for the Ivel ward 22.4% and 0% for the Stratton ward.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Biggleswade should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Biggleswade Town Council remain 
unchanged (fifteen); 

Page 49
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


22

2.3 That the number of parish councillors, and the parish ward boundaries, for the 
parish wards of Holme and Stratton be altered to provide a more equitable ratio of 
electors to seats; and

2.4 That the parish boundaries between Northill and Biggleswade be reviewed. 

Page 50
Agenda Item 7



23

APPENDIX B1

Page 51
Agenda Item 7



24

APPENDIX B2

Page 52
Agenda Item 7



25

Blunham

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 10 827 1036 83 104 -67%

1.1 Blunham parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 10 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 123 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Moggerhanger, 
Sandy and Tempsford. The parish, together with the parish of Sandy are coterminous 
within the district ward of Sandy.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions. 

1.4 The 2011 and 2015 elections were uncontested with only 4 nominations in 
2011 and 9 nominations in 2015. Consequently, it is recommended that the number 
of councillors be reduced to 7 which would have the effect of increasing the ratio of 
electors to seats to 148 (-54% variance from average).

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 25.3%.

1.6  The development ‘Old Station Court’ in the south of the parish has extended 
into the parish of Moggerhanger (as shown at Appendix C). It is therefore 
recommended that this anomaly is corrected by formally incorporating the relevant 
properties into the parish of Blunham.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Blunham should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Blunham Parish Council be reduced to 
seven; and

2.3 That the boundary of the parish be changed to incorporate the properties at 
numbers 7 to 17 (odds) and number 18 Old Station Court.

Page 53
Agenda Item 7



26

APPENDIX C

Page 54
Agenda Item 7



27

Brogborough

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors to 

Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 276 276 39 -88%

1.1 Brogborough parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats on the 
Council. There is no forecast development to March 2023.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Hulcote & Salford, 
Husborne Crawley, Lidlington and Ridgmont. The parish, together with the parishes 
of Cranfield, Hulcote & Salford, Lidlington, Marston Moretaine, Millbrook and 
Ridgmont are coterminous within the district ward of Cranfield.

1.3 The Parish Council did not submit a response to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, the 1 submission from a member of the public suggesting a 
change to the style of the Council to ‘Village’ and that the name of the parish be 
changed to either Brockborough or Badgers Hill can be found at 
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx   

1.4 Whilst the 2011 and 2015 elections were uncontested with 5 nominations in 
2011 and only 3 nominations in 2015 the National Association of Local Councils 
considers that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is nil.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Brogborough should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Brogborough Parish Council remain 
unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Brogborough. 

Page 55
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


28

Caddington

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 10 3209 3675 320 368 +15%

1.1 Caddington parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 10 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 274 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Dunstable, 
Kensworth and Slip End. The parish, together with the parishes of Hyde, Kensworth, 
Slip End, Studham and Whipsnade are coterminous within the district ward of 
Caddington, Hyde and Slip End.

1.3 The Parish Council did not submit a response to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, 9 online submissions, requesting no changes to the number 
of councillors, were received from the public which can be found at 
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx   
Moreover, it should be noted that the submission from Dunstable Town Council 
seeks to extend the parish boundary of Dunstable whilst incorporating the anomaly 
of numbers 19 to 73 (odds) Norfolk Road and the new development at the former 
Empire Rubber Company site which are currently within the Caddington parish 
boundary (as shown at Appendix D) . 

1.4 Whilst the 2011 elections were contested with 15 nominations and the 2015 
elections were uncontested with only 7 nominations it is not considered appropriate 
to recommend changes to the number of parish councillors at this time due to the 
substantial development taking place in the next 5 years.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 14.5%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Caddington should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Caddington Parish Council remain 
unchanged (ten); and

2.3 That the boundary of the parish be changed to remove the properties at 
Numbers 19 to 73 (odds) Norfolk Road together with the properties at Fossett 
Grove, Goodhart Crescent, Montgomery Grove, Renner Croft and Numbers 177 to 
233 (odds) London Road.

Page 56
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


29

APPENDIX D

Page 57
Agenda Item 7



30

Page 58
Agenda Item 7



31

Campton & Chicksands

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 1204 1207 172 172 -46%

1.1 Campton & Chicksands parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 
seats on the Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a 
further 2 dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Clophill, 
Gravenhurst, Haynes, Meppershall, Shefford and Southill. The parish, together with 
the parishes of Meppershall and Shefford are coterminous within the district ward of 
Shefford.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 Whilst the 2011 and 2015 elections were uncontested with 4 nominations in 
2011 and only 3 nominations in 2015 the National Association of Local Councils 
considers that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 0.2%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Campton & Chicksands should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Campton & Chicksands Parish Council 
remain unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Campton and 
Chicksands. 

Page 59
Agenda Item 7



32

Chalgrave

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 397 399 57 57 -82%

1.1 Chalgrave parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 1 
dwelling.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Battlesden, Chalton, 
Hockliffe, Houghton Regis, Tilsworth and Toddington. The parish, together with the 
parishes of Eggington, Heath & Reach, Hockliffe, Stanbridge and Tilsworth are 
coterminous within the district ward of Heath & Reach.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 Whilst the 2011 and 2015 elections were uncontested with 6 nominations in 
2011 and 6 nominations in 2015 the National Association of Local Councils considers 
that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 0.5%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Chalgrave should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Chalgrave Parish Council remain 
unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Chalgrave. 

Page 60
Agenda Item 7



33

Chalton

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 464 471 66 67 -79%

1.1 Chalton parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 4 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Chalgrave, Houghton 
Regis, Sundon and Toddington. The parish, together with the parishes of Harlington, 
Streatley, Sundon, and Toddington are coterminous within the district ward of 
Toddington.

1.3 The submission from the Parish Council recommended that no changes be 
made and there were no responses from the public.

1.4 Whilst the 2011 and 2015 elections were uncontested with 3 nominations in 
2011 and 6 nominations in 2015 the National Association of Local Councils considers 
that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 1.5%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Chalton should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Chalton Parish Council remain 
unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Chalton. 

Page 61
Agenda Item 7



34

Clifton

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 12 2595 2838 216 237 -26%

1.1 Clifton parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 12 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 143 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Henlow, Langford, 
Meppershall, Shefford and Southill. The parish, together with the parishes of Arlesey, 
Henlow and Stondon are coterminous within the district ward of Arlesey.

1.3 The Parish Council did not submit a response to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, 3 submissions were received from the public which 
recommended no changes can be found at 
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx   

1.4 The submissions from the Shefford Town Council and a CBC Shefford ward 
councillor to extend the Shefford parish boundary can also be found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx   with 
maps of the proposed extensions as shown at Appendices E1 and E2 to this 
document.

1.5 The 2011 and 2015 elections were uncontested with 11 nominations in 2011 
and 11 nominations in 2015. Consequently, and notwithstanding the 3 submissions 
from the public to retain the current number of councillors, it is recommended that 
the number of councillors be reduced to 10 which would have the effect of 
increasing the ratio of electors to seats to 284 (-11% variance from average)

1.6 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 9.4%

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Clifton should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Clifton Parish Council be reduced to 
ten; and

2.3 That the parish boundaries of Clifton and Shefford be reviewed.

Page 62
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


35

APPENDIX E1

Page 63
Agenda Item 7



36

APPENDIX E2

Page 64
Agenda Item 7



37

Clophill

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 10 1420 1444 142 144 -55%

1.1 Clophill parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 10 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 14 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Campton & 
Chicksands, Gravenhurst, Haynes, Maulden and Silsoe. The parish, together with the 
parishes of Ampthill and Maulden are coterminous within the district ward of 
Ampthill.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 The 2011 elections were uncontested with 10 nominations. However, the 2015 
elections were contested with 13 nominations. Nevertheless, it is recommended that 
the number of councillors be reduced to 7 which would have the effect of increasing 
the ratio of electors to seats to 206 (-35% variance from average).

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 1.7%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Clophill should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Clophill Parish Council be reduced to 
seven; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Clophill. 

Page 65
Agenda Item 7



38

Cranfield

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Cranfield 13 3673 4416 283 340 +7%

Wharley End 2 145 145 73 73 -77%

1.1 Cranfield parish has a Parish Council and is currently divided into 2 wards. 
Cranfield with 13 councillors and Wharley End with 2 councillors. The forecast 
development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 437 dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Hulcote & Salford 
and Marston Moretaine. The parish, together with the parishes of Brogborough, 
Hulcote & Salford, Lidlington, Millbrook, Marston Moretaine and Ridgmont are 
coterminous within the district ward of Cranfield.

1.3 The Parish Council did not submit a response to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, 2 submissions were received from the public which can be 
found at http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx 
It is considered that the submission from the member of the public who suggested 
that the ward of Wharley End should be abolished has merit given the shortfall of 
candidates in both 2011 and 2015.  

1.4 The 2011 and the 2015 elections for the Cranfield ward were uncontested with 
10 nominations on each occasion. The Wharley End ward was also uncontested in 
both 2011 and 2015 with 2 nominations in 2011 but none in 2015. Consequently, 
and notwithstanding the 2 submissions from the public to retain the current number 
of councillors, it is recommended that the ward of Wharley End be abolished and the 
number of councillors be reduced to 13 which would have the effect of increasing 
the ratio of electors to seats to 351 (+10% variance from average).

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 19.5%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Cranfield should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the ward of Cranfield Wharley End be abolished;

2.3 That the number of parish councillors on Cranfield Parish Council be reduced 
to thirteen; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Cranfield. 

Page 66
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


39

Dunstable

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Central 3 3775 3819 1258 1273 +299%

Icknield 5 6344 6847 1268 1369 +329%

Manshead 3 3883 3883 1294 1294 +306%

Northfields 5 7451 7777 1490 1555 +388%

Watling 5 7739 7739 1548 1548 +385%

1.1 Dunstable parish has a Town Council and is currently divided into 5 wards. 
Both the Central and Manshead wards have 3 councillors and the wards of Icknield, 
Northfields and Watling have 5 councillors each. The forecast development to March 
2023 is estimated at a further 514 dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Caddington, 
Houghton Regis, Kensworth and Totternhoe. The parish wards are coterminous 
within the 5 district wards of the same names.

1.3 The submission from the Town Council to reduce the number of councillors 
from 21 to 18 together with the proposal to extend the boundaries to the north, and 
south can be found on 
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx  with 
maps of the proposed extensions at Appendix F1 and F2 to this document. Further 
submissions from both the public and interested parties can also be seen via the 
same link. The proposed extension to the parish boundary to incorporate the 
anomaly of numbers 19 to 73 (odds) Norfolk Road and the new development at the 
former Empire Rubber Company site which are currently within the Caddington 
parish boundary is considered both practical and reasonable.  However, the proposal 
to extend into several fields in the northern quarter of Kensworth parish is deemed 
contrary to the Terms of Reference given that the area does not contain a 
‘community’ at this stage.  The proposal to extend the northern boundary to 
incorporate the hamlet of Sewell (currently within the parish of Houghton Regis) 
within the parish (16 properties and 39 electors) would appear to be a practical 
suggestion in geographical terms.  However, it is noted that Houghton Regis Town 
Council has submitted a case to retain this area.

1.4 The submissions from Totternhoe Parish Council to extend its boundaries into 
Dunstable can also be found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx  with a 

Page 67
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


40

map of the proposed extensions at Appendix F3 to this document. However, the 
proposal to extend into several fields is deemed contrary to the Terms of Reference 
given that the area does not contain a ‘community’ at this stage

1.5 Additionally, a small development in Portland Ride built in the late 1990s 
extended across the parish boundary from Houghton Regis to Dunstable (as shown 
at Appendix F4).  It is therefore recommended that this anomaly is corrected by 
formally moving the relevant properties, Numbers 21 to 33 Portland Ride into the 
parish of Houghton Regis.

1.6 Although the 2011 elections were contested in all 5 wards with 7 nominations 
for Central, 11 for Icknield, 9 for Manshead, 16 for Northfields and 11 for Watling 
and the 2015 elections were equally as competitive with 7 nominations for Central, 
13 for Icknield, 9 for Manshead, 16 for Northfields and 13 for Watling it is noted that 
the submissions from both the Town Council and some members of the public that 
the number of councillors be reduced, is consistent with government advice that the 
conduct of parish council business does not usually require a large body of 
councillors. 

1.7 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years for the Central ward is 
1.2%; for the Icknield ward 7.9% and 4.4% for the Northfields ward. No projected 
electorate growth over the 5 years is planned for the wards of Manshead and 
Watling. 

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Dunstable should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Dunstable Town Council be reduced 
to eighteen (Central Ward 3, Icknield Ward 4, Manshead Ward 3, Northfields Ward 4 
and Watling Ward 4);

2.3 That the boundary of the parish be changed to add the properties at Numbers 
19 to 73 (odds) Norfolk Road together with the properties at Fossett Grove, 
Goodhart Crescent, Montgomery Grove, Renner Croft and Numbers 177 to 233 
(odds) London Road; 

2.4 That the boundary of the parish be changed to effect the removal of the 
properties at Numbers 21 to 33 Portland Ride; and 

2. 5 That the views of the Sewell residents be considered before a final decision is 
taken on the proposal to incorporate the hamlet into the parish of Dunstable. 

Page 68
Agenda Item 7



41

APPENDIX F1

Page 69
Agenda Item 7



42

APPENDIX F2

Page 70
Agenda Item 7



43

APPENDIX F3

Page 71
Agenda Item 7



44

APPENDIX F4

Page 72
Agenda Item 7



45

Dunton

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 560 562 80 80 -75%

1.1 Dunton parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 1 
dwelling.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Biggleswade, 
Edworth, Eyeworth and Sutton. The parish, together with the parishes of Edworth, 
Everton, Eyeworth, Tempsford, Potton, Sutton and Wrestlingworth & Cockayne 
Hatley are coterminous within the district ward of Potton.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 Whilst the 2011 and 2015 elections were uncontested with 4 nominations in 
2011 and 7 nominations in 2015 the National Association of Local Councils considers 
that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 0.36%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Dunton should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Dunton Parish Council remain 
unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Dunton. 

Page 73
Agenda Item 7



46

Eaton Bray

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 9 2129 2144 237 238 -25%

1.1 Eaton Bray parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 9 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 9 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Great Billington, 
Stanbridge, Totternhoe and Whipsnade. The parish, together with the parishes of 
Great Billington and Totternhoe are coterminous within the district ward of Eaton 
Bray.

1.3 The Parish Council did not submit a response to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, 2 online responses were received from the public which can 
be found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx. 

1.4 The 2011 and 2015 elections were uncontested with only 4 nominations in 
2011 and 7 nominations in 2015. Consequently, and notwithstanding the 2 
submissions from the public to retain the current number of councillors, it is 
recommended that the number of councillors be reduced to 7 which would have the 
effect of increasing the ratio of electors to seats to 306 (-4% variance from average).

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 0.7%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Eaton Bray should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Eaton Bray Parish Council be reduced 
to seven; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Eaton Bray. 

Page 74
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


47

Edworth

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors to 

Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable N/A 57 57 N/A

1.1 Edworth is one of the seven parishes which do not have a Council but meets as 
a parish meeting.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Astwick, Bigglewade 
and Dunton. The parish, together with the parishes of Dunton, Everton, Eyeworth, 
Tempsford, Potton, Sutton and Wrestlingworth & Cockayne Hatley are coterminous 
within the district ward of Potton.

1.3 The Parish Meeting nor the public submitted a response to the invitation of 
initial submissions.

1.4 There are only 30 properties and 57 electors in the parish and there is no 
anticipated growth over the next 5 years. The parish operates as a parish meeting 
and has a relatively strong sense of identity.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is nil.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Edworth should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the parish should not have a parish council; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Edworth.

Page 75
Agenda Item 7



48

Eggington

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 245 585 35 84 -74%

1.1 Eggington parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 200 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Heath & Reach, 
Hockliffe, Leighton-Linslade and Stanbridge. The parish, together with the parishes of 
Chalgrave, Heath & Reach, Hockliffe, Stanbridge and Tilsworth are coterminous 
within the district ward of Heath & Reach.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 Whilst the 2011 and 2015 elections were uncontested with only 2 nominations 
in 2011 and 7 nominations in 2015 the National Association of Local Councils 
considers that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should be seven.

1.5 Clearly the doubling in size of the electorate in the next 5 years will have a 
major impact on the parish.  However, it should be noted that in the case of Offerton 
Park Parish Council v Stockport Borough Council (2011), the High Court held that a 
decision to abolish a Parish Council should be overturned as the Council had not had 
proper regard to the material consideration that the majority of the electorate had 
not expressed an opinion.   

1.6 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 138.8%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Eggington should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Eggington Parish Council remain 
unchanged (seven); 

2.3. That a further governance review of the parish be held when a substantial 
number of the proposed development has taken place; and

2.4 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Eggington. 

Page 76
Agenda Item 7



49

Eversholt

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 352 357 50 51 -84%

1.1 Eversholt parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 3 
dwellings

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Flitwick, Milton 
Bryan, Ridgmont, Steppingley, Tingrith and Woburn. The parish, together with the 
parishes of Aspley Guise, Aspley Heath, Battlesden, Husborne Crawley, Milton Bryan, 
Potsgrove and Woburn are coterminous within the district ward of Aspley & 
Woburn.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 Whilst the 2011 and 2015 elections were uncontested with 5 nominations in 
2011 and 7 nominations in 2015 the National Association of Local Councils considers 
that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 1.4%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Eversholt should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Eversholt Parish Council remain 
unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Eversholt. 

Page 77
Agenda Item 7



50

Everton

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 402 412 57 59 -82%

1.1 Everton parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 7 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Potton, Sandy 
Tempsford. The parish, together with the parishes of Dunton, Edworth, Eyeworth, 
Tempsford, Potton, Sutton and Wrestlingworth & Cockayne Hatley are coterminous 
within the district ward of Potton.

1.3 The Parish Council did not submit a response to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, 1 online response was received from the public which 
recommended no changes can be found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx. 

1.4 Whilst the 2011 elections were uncontested with 6 nominations and the 2015 
elections were contested with 9 nominations the National Association of Local 
Councils considers that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should 
be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 2.5%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Everton should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Everton Parish Council remain 
unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Everton. 

Page 78
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


51

Eyeworth

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors to 

Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable N/A 69 69 N/A

1.1 Eyeworth is one of the seven parishes which do not have a Council but meets 
as a parish meeting.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Dunton, Sutton and 
Wrestlingworth & Cockayne Hatley. The parish, together with the parishes of 
Dunton, Edworth, Everton, Tempsford, Potton, Sutton and Wrestlingworth & 
Cockayne Hatley are coterminous within the district ward of Potton.

1.3 The Parish Meeting nor the public submitted a response to the invitation of 
initial submissions.

1.4 There are only 37 properties and 69 electors in the parish and there is no 
anticipated growth over the next 5 years. The parish operates as a parish meeting 
and has a relatively strong sense of identity.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is nil.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Eyeworth should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the parish should not have a parish council; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Eyeworth.

Page 79
Agenda Item 7



52

Fairfield

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 1915 2377 274 340 +7%

1.1 Fairfield has a Parish Council which was formed in April 2013.  It is unwarded 
and has 7 seats on the Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is 
estimated at a further 272 dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Arlesey and Stotfold. 
The parish, together with the parishes of Astwick, Langford and Stotfold are 
coterminous within the district ward of Stotfold & Langford.

1.3 There were no responses from the public to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, the submission from the Parish Council to increase the 
number of councillors from 7 to 9 together with the proposal to change the style to 
‘Village Council’ and to extend the boundary can be found on 
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx   It 
should be noted that the extension cannot be considered as part of this review as 
the proposed change would require an alteration to the Central Bedfordshire 
Council’s external boundary; which is not admissible.

1.4 There is no legislative guidance with regard to the ideal number of parish 
councillors and there is no legal sliding scale and whilst the 2013 and 2015 elections 
were contested with 10 nominations in 2013 and 8 nominations in 2015 it is 
considered that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should remain 
at seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 24.1%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Fairfield should remain unchanged;

2.2     That the parish style is changed to Fairfield Village Council;

2.3 That the number of parish councillors on Fairfield Village Council remain 
unchanged (seven); and

2.4 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Fairfield.

Page 80
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


53

Flitton and Greenfield

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Flitton 5 555 577 111 115 -64%

Greenfield 5 596 596 119 119 -62%

1.1 Flitton and Greenfield parishes have a merged Parish Council; each parish is 
represented by 5 councillors on the Parish Council.  The forecast development to 
March 2023 is estimated at a further 13 dwellings in Flitton and none in Greenfield.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Flitwick, Maulden, 
Pulloxhill, Silsoe and Westoning. The parish, together with the parishes of Pulloxhill, 
Tingrith and Westoning are coterminous within the district ward of Westoning, 
Flitton & Greenfield.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 The 2011 elections in Flitton were contested with 7 nominations. However, the 
2015 elections were uncontested with 5 nominations. For the parish of Greenfield, 
the elections in both 2011 and 2015 were uncontested with 5 nominations in 2011 
and 4 in 2015. Consequently, it is recommended that the number of councillors be 
reduced to 8 which would have the effect of increasing the ratio of electors to seats 
to 144 in Flitton (-55% variance from average) and 149 in Greenfield (-53% variance 
from average).

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 3.9% in Flitton with nil 
growth in Greenfield.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish names of Flitton and Greenfield should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Flitton and Greenfield Parish Council 
be reduced to eight; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundaries of Flitton and 
Greenfield. 

Page 81
Agenda Item 7



54

Flitwick

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

East 7 4539 4624 648 661 +107%

West 10 5788 6409 579 641 +101%

1.1 Flitwick parish has a Town Council and is currently divided into 2 wards. East 
ward with 7 councillors and West ward with 10 councillors. The forecast 
development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 50 dwellings in East ward and a 
further 365 dwellings in West ward.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Ampthill, Eversholt, 
Flitton & Greenfield, Maulden, Steppingley, Tingrith and Westoning. The parish, 
together with the parish of Steppingley are coterminous within the district ward of 
Flitwick.

1.3 The Town Council did not submit a response to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, 5 online responses were received from the public which can 
be found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx. 

1.4 The 2011 elections in the East ward were uncontested with 7 nominations. 
However, the 2015 elections were contested with 11 nominations.  For the West 
ward, the 2011 elections were contested with 12 nominations but uncontested in 
the 2015 elections with 10 nominations. Nevertheless, and notwithstanding the 
mixed submissions from the public to review the current number of councillors, no 
changes to the number of parish councillors is recommended at this time.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 1.9% for East ward and 
10.7% for West ward.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Flitwick should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Flitwick Town Council remain 
unchanged (seventeen); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Flitwick. 

Page 82
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


55

Gravenhurst

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 462 503 66 72 -77%

1.1 Gravenhurst parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 24 
dwellings

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Campton & 
Chicksands, Clophill, Meppershall, Shillington and Silsoe. The parish, together with 
the parishes of Shillington and Silsoe are coterminous within the district ward of 
Silsoe & Shillington.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 Whilst the 2011 and 2015 elections were uncontested with 6 nominations in 
2011 and 5 nominations in 2015 the National Association of Local Councils considers 
that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 8.9%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Gravenhurst should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Gravenhurst Parish Council remain 
unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Gravenhurst. 

Page 83
Agenda Item 7



56

Great Billington

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 280 285 40 41 -87%

1.1 Great Billington parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats on 
the Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 3 
dwellings

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Eaton Bray, Leighton 
Linslade and Stanbridge. The parish, together with the parishes of Eaton Bray and 
Totternhoe are coterminous within the district ward of Eaton Bray.

1.3 There were no responses from the public to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, the submission from the Parish Council to change the name 
of the parish to Billington can be found on 
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx  

1.4 Whilst the 2011 and 2015 elections were uncontested with 3 nominations in 
2011 and 5 nominations in 2015 the National Association of Local Councils considers 
that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 1.8%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Great Billington be changed to Billington;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Billington Council remain unchanged 
(seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Billington. 

Page 84
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


57

Harlington

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 12 1832 1857 153 155 -51%

1.1 Harlington parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 12 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 15 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Streatley, Sundon, 
Toddington and Westoning. The parish, together with the parishes of Chalton, 
Streatley, Sundon and Toddington are coterminous within the district ward of 
Toddington.

1.3 The Parish Council did not submit a response to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, 4 online responses were received from the public which can 
be found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx. 

1.4 The 2011 and 2015 elections were uncontested with 9 nominations in 2011 
and 8 nominations in 2015. Consequently, and notwithstanding that 3 of the 4 
submissions from the public to retain the current number of councillors, it is 
recommended that the number of councillors be reduced to 7 which would have the 
effect of increasing the ratio of electors to seats to 265 (-17% variance from 
average).

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 1.4%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Harlington should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Harlington Parish Council be reduced 
to seven; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Harlington.

Page 85
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


58

Haynes

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 10 995 997 100 100 -69%

1.1 Haynes parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 10 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 1 
dwelling.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Campton & 
Chicksands, Clophill, Houghton Conquest Maulden. The parish, together with the 
parish of Houghton Conquest are coterminous within the district ward of Houghton 
Conquest & Haynes.

1.3 The Parish Council did not submit a response to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, 2 online responses were received from the public which can 
be found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx. 

1.4 The 2011 elections were contested with 12 nominations. However, the 2015 
elections were uncontested with 9 nominations. Consequently, and notwithstanding 
the 2 submissions from the public to retain the current number of councillors, it is 
recommended that the number of councillors be reduced to 7 which would have the 
effect of increasing the ratio of electors to seats to 142 (-55% variance from 
average). 

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 0.2%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Haynes should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Haynes Parish Council be reduced to 
seven; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Haynes.

Page 86
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


59

Heath & Reach

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 9 1168 1183 130 131 -59%

1.1 Heath & Reach parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 9 seats on 
the Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 9 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Battlesden, 
Eggington, Hockliffe, Leighton-Linslade and Potsgrove. The parish, together with the 
parishes of Chalgrave, Eggington, Hockliffe, Stanbridge and Tilsworth are 
coterminous within the district ward of Heath & Reach.

1.3 The Parish Council did not submit a response to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, the 1 online response received from the public which 
recommended a reduction in the number of councillors can be found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx. 

1.4 The 2011 and 2015 elections were uncontested with only 3 nominations in 
2011 and 5 nominations in 2015. Consequently, it is recommended that the number 
of councillors be reduced to 7 which would have the effect of increasing the ratio of 
electors to seats to 169 (-47% variance from average).

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 1.3%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Heath & Reach should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Heath & Reach Parish Council be 
reduced to seven; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Heath & Reach.

Page 87
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


60

Henlow

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Camp 2 1017 1017 509 509 +60%

Village 10 1819 1841 182 184 -42%

1.1 Henlow parish has a Parish Council and is currently divided into 2 wards. Camp 
ward with 2 councillors and Village ward with 10 councillors. The forecast 
development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 13 dwellings in the Village 
ward but none in the Camp ward.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Arlesey, Clifton, 
Meppershall, Langford and Stondon. The parish, together with the parish of Arlesey, 
Clifton and Stondon are coterminous within the district ward of Arlesey.

1.3 The submissions from the Parish Council and the 36 online responses that were 
received from the public can be found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx  

1.4 The number of mixed submissions from the residents clearly indicates that 
there is a ground swell of differing opinions regarding the future of the Camp ward.  
Moreover, a submission from Stondon Parish Council has also been received which 
seeks to extend its parish boundary to incorporate the whole of the Camp ward (as 
shown at Appendix G).  

1.5 The 2011 and 2015 elections in the Camp ward were uncontested with 2 
nominations in 2011 and only 1 in 2015.   For the Village ward, the 2011 and 2015 
elections were also uncontested with 9 nominations in 2011 and 8 nominations in 
2015. Consequently, and notwithstanding that 28 of the 36 submissions from the 
public to retain the current number of councillors, it is recommended that the Camp 
ward be abolished and the number of councillors be reduced to 10 which would 
have the effect of increasing the ratio of electors to seats to 284 (-10% variance from 
average).

1.6 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is nil for Camp ward and 
1.2% for the Village ward.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Henlow should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the Camp ward be abolished

2.3 That the number of parish councillors on Henlow Parish Council be reduced to 
ten; and
2.4 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Henlow. 

Page 88
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


61

APPENDIX G

Page 89
Agenda Item 7



62

Page 90
Agenda Item 7



63

Hockliffe

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 787 819 112 117 -63%

1.1 Hockliffe parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 19 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Battlesden, 
Chalgrave, Eggington, Heath & Reach and Tilsworth. The parish, together with the 
parishes of Chalgrave, Eggington, Heath & Reach, Stanbridge and Tilsworth are 
coterminous within the district ward of Heath & Reach.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 Whilst the 2011 elections were contested with 8 nominations and the 2015 
elections were uncontested with only 4 nominations the National Association of 
Local Councils considers that the practical minimum number of parish councillors 
should be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 4.1%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Hockliffe should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Hockliffe Parish Council remain 
unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Hockliffe.

Page 91
Agenda Item 7



64

Houghton Conquest

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 10 1286 2792 129 279 -13%

1.1 Houghton Conquest parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 10 
seats on the Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a 
further 886 dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Ampthill, Haynes, 
Millbrook and Maulden. The parish, together with the parish of Haynes are 
coterminous within the district ward of Houghton Conquest & Haynes.

1.3 There were no responses from the public to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, the submission from the Parish Council can be found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx  

1.4 The 2011 and 2015 elections were uncontested with only 6 nominations in 
2011 and 9 nominations in 2015. Nevertheless, no changes to the number of parish 
councillors is recommended at this time.

1.5 The substantial development in the next 5 years will have a major impact on 
the parish.  However, it should be noted that in the case of Offerton Park Parish 
Council v Stockport Borough Council (2011), the High Court held that a decision to 
abolish a Parish Council should be overturned as the Council had not had proper 
regard to the material consideration that the majority of the electorate had not 
expressed an opinion.   

1.6 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 117%.

1.7 The development at Houghton Park Farm in the south of the parish has 
extended into the parish of Houghton Conquest (as shown at Appendix H). It is 
therefore recommended that this anomaly is corrected by formally incorporating the 
relevant properties into the parish of Ampthill.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Houghton Conquest should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the parish should be warded;

2.3 That the number of parish councillors on Houghton Conquest Parish Council 
remain unchanged (ten) but that the new development area be allocated 5 
councillors and the village area 5 councillors; and

2.4 That the boundary of the parish be changed to exclude the properties 
Houghton Park Farm, Houghton Park House and The Old Stables.

Page 92
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


65

APPENDIX H

Page 93
Agenda Item 7



66

Page 94
Agenda Item 7



67

Houghton Regis

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Houghton Hall 6 6291 7741 1049 1290 304%

Parkside 4 3533 3584 883 896 181%

Tithe Farm 4 3294 3294 824 824 158%

1.1 Houghton Regis parish has a Town Council and is currently divided into 3 
wards. Houghton Hall ward with 6 councillors, Parkside with 4 councillors and Tithe 
Farm ward with 4 councillors. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated 
at a further 853 dwellings in the Houghton Hall ward, 30 in the Parkside ward but 
none in the Tithe Farm ward.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Chalgrave, Chalton, 
Dunstable, Tilsworth and Totternhoe. The parish wards are coterminous within the 3 
district wards of the same names.

1.3 The submissions from the Town Council and the 7 online responses that were 
received from the public can be found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx  

1.4 The development in Portland Ride built in the late 1990s extended across the 
parish boundary from Houghton Regis to Dunstable (as shown at Appendix I1).  It is 
therefore recommended that this anomaly is corrected by formally moving the 
relevant properties, Numbers 21 to 33 Portland Ride into the parish of Houghton 
Regis.

1.5 Clearly the extensive development in the Houghton Hall ward in the next 5 
years will have a significant impact on the parish and consideration will have to be 
given as to whether the development area should become a separate parish ward.  

1.6 The proposal from Dunstable Town Council to extend the northern boundary 
to incorporate the hamlet of Sewell (currently within the parish of Houghton Regis) 
within the parish of Dunstable (16 properties and 39 electors) would appear to be a 
practical suggestion in geographical terms (as shown at Appendix I2).   However, it is 
noted that Houghton Regis Town Council has submitted a case to retain this area.

1.7 The submissions from Totternhoe Parish Council to extend its boundaries into 
Houghton Regis can be found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx  with a 
map of the proposed extensions at Appendix I3 to this document.

Page 95
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


68

1.8 There is no legislative guidance with regard to the ideal number of parish 
councillors and there is no legal sliding scale and whilst the 2011 and 2015 elections 
were contested with 10 nominations in 2011 and 12 in 2015 for the Houghton Hall 
ward, 8 nominations in 2011 and 7 in 2015 for the Parkside ward and 8 nominations 
in 2011 and 11 in 2015 for the Tithe Farm ward it is considered that the practical 
number of parish councillors, at this time, should remain at fourteen. 
Notwithstanding, that there were mixed views regarding councillor numbers within 
the submissions received. 

1.9 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 23% for Houghton Hall 
ward, 1.5% for the Parkside ward and nil for the Tithe Farm ward.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Houghton Regis should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Houghton Regis Town Council remain 
unchanged (fourteen); 

2.3 That the boundary of the parish be changed to effect the inclusion of the 
properties at Numbers 21 to 33 Portland Ride; and 

2.4 That a further governance review of the parish be held when a substantial 
number of the proposed development in the Houghton Hall ward has taken place.

Page 96
Agenda Item 7



69

APPENDIX I1

Page 97
Agenda Item 7



70

APPENDIX I2

Page 98
Agenda Item 7



71

APPENDIX I3

Page 99
Agenda Item 7



72

Page 100
Agenda Item 7



73

Hulcote & Salford

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 179 184 26 26 -92%

1.1 Hulcote & Salford parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats 
on the Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 3 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Aspley Guise, 
Brogborough and Cranfield. The parish, together with the parishes of Brogborough, 
Cranfield, Lidlington, Millbrook, Marston Moretaine and Ridgmont are coterminous 
within the district ward of Cranfield.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 Whilst the 2011 elections were uncontested with 7 nominations and the 2015 
elections were contested with 11 nominations the National Association of Local 
Councils considers that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should 
be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 2.8%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Hulcote & Salford should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Hulcote & Salford Parish Council 
remain unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Hulcote & Salford.

Page 101
Agenda Item 7



74

Husborne Crawley

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 183 191 26 27 -92%

1.1 Husborne Crawley parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats 
on the Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 5 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Aspley Guise, 
Brogborough, Ridgmont and Woburn. The parish, together with the parishes of 
Aspley Guise, Aspley Heath, Battlesden, Eversholt, Milton Bryan, Potsgrove and 
Woburn are coterminous within the district ward of Aspley & Woburn.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 Whilst the 2011 and the 2015 elections were uncontested with only 5 
nominations in 2011 and 7 nominations in 2015 the National Association of Local 
Councils considers that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should 
be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 4.4%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Husborne Crawley should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Husborne Crawley Parish Council 
remain unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Husborne Crawley.

Page 102
Agenda Item 7



75

Hyde

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 317 317 45 45 -86%

1.1 Hyde parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats on the 
Council. There is no forecast development to March 2023.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parish of Slip End. The parish, 
together with the parishes of Caddington, Kensworth, Slip End, Studham and 
Whipsnade are coterminous within the district ward of Caddington, Hyde and Slip 
End.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 Whilst the 2011 and the 2015 elections were uncontested with only 4 
nominations in 2011 and 6 nominations in 2015 the National Association of Local 
Councils considers that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should 
be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is nil.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Hyde should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Hyde Parish Council remain 
unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Hyde.

Page 103
Agenda Item 7



76

Kensworth

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 9 1168 1176 130 131 -59%

1.1 Kensworth parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 9 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 5 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Caddington, 
Dunstable, Totternhoe and Whipsnade. The parish, together with the parishes of 
Caddington, Hyde, Slip End, Studham and Whipsnade are coterminous within the 
district ward of Caddington, Hyde and Slip End.

1.3 The submissions from the Parish Council to reduce the number of councillors 
together with the 1 online response which was received from the public can be 
found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx. 
However, the proposal from Dunstable Town Council to extend into several fields in 
the northern quarter of Kensworth parish (as shown at Appendix J) which can also be 
found at http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx. 
is deemed contrary to the Terms of Reference given that the area does not contain a 
‘community’ at this stage.

1.4 The 2011 and the 2015 elections were uncontested with 9 nominations on 
both occasions. Consequently, and notwithstanding the 1 submission from the public 
to retain the current number of councillors, it is recommended that the number of 
councillors be reduced to 7 which would have the effect of increasing the ratio of 
electors to seats to 168 (-47% variance from average).

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 0.7%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Kensworth should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Kensworth Parish Council be reduced 
to seven; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Kensworth.

Page 104
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


77

APPENDIX J

Page 105
Agenda Item 7



78

Page 106
Agenda Item 7



79

Langford

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Current 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors to 
Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 13 2590 2950 199 227 -29%

1.1 Langford has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 13 seats on the Council. 
The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 212 dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Arlesey, Astwick, 
Biggleswade, Clifton, Henlow and Southill. The parish, together with the parishes of 
Astwick, Fairfield and Stotfold are coterminous within the district ward of Stotfold & 
Langford.

1.3 The Parish Council did not submit a response to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, 1 online response was received from the public which can be 
found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx. 

1.4 The 2011 and the 2015 elections were uncontested with 9 nominations in 2011 
and only 7 nominations in 2015. Consequently, and notwithstanding the submission 
from the 1 member of the public to retain the current number of councillors, it is 
recommended that the number of councillors be reduced to 10 which would have 
the effect of increasing the ratio of electors to seats to 295 (-8% variance from 
average).

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 13.9%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Langford should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Langford Parish Council be reduced to 
ten; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Langford.

Page 107
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


80

Leighton-Linslade

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Current 
Ratio 

Electors to 
Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors to 
Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Barnabas 3 4260 4335 1420 1445 +353%

Brooklands 2 2751 2751 1376 1376 +331%

Grovebury 4 6231 7226 1558 1807 +466%

Leston 1 1401 1401 1401 1401 +339%

Planets 2 3493 3862 1747 1931 +505%

Plantation 3 4573 5347 1524 1782 +459%

Southcott 4 5270 5270 1318 1318 +313%

St George’s 2 3355 3355 1678 1678 +426%

1.1 Leighton-Linslade parish has a Town Council and is currently divided into 8 
wards. Barnabas and Plantation wards with 3 councillors each, Brookland’s, Planets 
and St George’s wards with 2 councillors each. Leston ward with 1 councillor and 
Grovebury and Southcott wards with 4 councillors each. The forecast development 
to March 2023 is estimated at a further 44 dwellings in Barnabas ward, 217 in 
Planets ward, 455 in Plantation ward and 585 in Grovebury ward. The remaining 
wards of Southcott, St George’s, Brooklands and Leston have no forecast 
development to March 2023.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Eggington, Great 
Billington, Heath & Reach and Stanbridge. The parish, is coterminous within the 3 
district wards of Leighton Buzzard North, Leighton Buzzard South and Linslade.

1.3 The submission from the Town Council to review the boundaries in the east of 
the parish (as shown at Appendices K1) together with the changes in the number of 
parish ward councillors (as shown at Appendix K2)  and the 20 online responses that 
were received from the public can be found at   
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx   

1.4 The 2011 elections were contested in all 8 wards with 7 nominations for 
Barnabas, 4 for Brooklands, 7 for Grovebury, 2 for Leston, 4 for Planets, 5 for 
Plantation, 7 for Southcott and 6 for St George’s.  The 2015 elections were equally as 
competitive with 11 nominations for Barnabas, 4 for Brooklands, 10 for Grovebury, 3 
for Leston, 5 for Planets, 8 for Plantation, 15 for Southcott and 6 for St George’s. 
However, it is noted that the submissions from the majority of the public have 

Page 108
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


81

requested that the number of councillors be reduced, which is consistent with 
government advice that the conduct of parish council business does not usually 
require a large body of councillors. 

1.5 Clearly the substantial development in the next 5 years will have a major 
impact on the parish. Moreover, the number of mixed submissions from the 
residents indicates that there is a ground-swell of differing opinions regarding the 
future developments that traverse the parish boundaries of Leighton-Linslade, 
Eggington and Stanbridge. However, it should be noted that in the case of Offerton 
Park Parish Council v Stockport Borough Council (2011), the High Court held that a 
decision to abolish a Parish Council should be overturned as the Council had not had 
proper regard to the material consideration that the majority of the electorate had 
not expressed an opinion.   Consequently, it is not considered appropriate at this 
time to review the affected parish boundaries.

1.6 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 1.8% for Barnabas 
ward, 16% for Grovebury ward, 10.6% for Planets ward and 17% for the Plantation 
ward.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Leighton-Linslade should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the parish ward of Brooklands be extended to incorporate the parish 
ward of Leston;

2.3 That the parish ward of Leston be abolished;

2.4 That the number of parish councillors on Leighton-Linslade Town Council be 
reduced to nineteen (Barnabas (3), Brooklands (2), Grovebury (4), Planets (2), 
Plantation (3), Southcott (3) and St George’s (2));

2.5 That a further governance review of the parish be held when a substantial 
number of the proposed development that traverses the parish of Eggington has 
taken place; and

2.6 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Leighton-Linslade. 

Page 109
Agenda Item 7



82

APPENDIX K1

Page 110
Agenda Item 7



83

APPENDIX K2

Page 111
Agenda Item 7



84

Page 112
Agenda Item 7



85

Lidlington

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Current 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors to 
Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 9 1071 1124 119 125 -61%

1.1 Lidlington parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 9 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 31 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Brogborough, 
Marston Moretaine, Millbrook and Ridgmont. The parish, together with the parishes 
of Brogborough, Cranfield, Hulcote & Salford, Millbrook, Marston Moretaine and 
Ridgmont are coterminous within the district ward of Cranfield.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions. 

1.4 The 2011 and the 2015 elections were uncontested with 7 nominations in 2011 
and 8 nominations in 2015. Consequently, it is recommended that the number of 
councillors be reduced to 7 which would have the effect of increasing the ratio of 
electors to seats to 161 (-50% variance from average).

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 4.9%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Lidlington should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Lidlington Parish Council be reduced 
to seven; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Lidlington.

Page 113
Agenda Item 7



86

Marston Moretaine

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 12 4442 5265 370 439 +38%

1.1 Marston Moretaine parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 12 
seats on the Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a 
further 484 dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Cranfield, Hulcote & 
Salford, Lidlington and Millbrook. The parish, together with the parishes of 
Brogborough, Cranfield, Hulcote & Salford, Lidlington, Millbrook and Ridgmont are 
coterminous within the district ward of Cranfield.

1.3 The submissions from the Parish Council to change the spelling of the parish 
name together with the 3 online mixed responses that were received from the public 
can be found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx

1.4 Whilst the 2011 elections were contested with 14 nominations and the 2015 
elections were uncontested with only 9 nominations it is not considered appropriate 
to recommend a reduction in the number of councillors when taking into account 
the considerable amount of planned development.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 18.5%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name be changed to Marston Moreteyne;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Marston Moreteyne Parish Council 
remain unchanged (twelve); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Marston 
Moreteyne.

Page 114
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


87

Maulden

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 12 2498 2505 208 209 -35%

1.1 Maulden parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 12 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 4 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Ampthill, Clophill, 
Flitton & Greenfield, Flitwick, Haynes, Houghton Conquest and Silsoe. The parish, 
together with the parishes of Ampthill and Clophill are coterminous within the 
district ward of Ampthill.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 The 2011 elections were uncontested with 12 nominations. However, the 2015 
elections were contested with 13 nominations. Nevertheless, it is recommended that 
the number of councillors be reduced to 8 which would have the effect of increasing 
the ratio of electors to seats to 313 (-2% variance from average).

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 0.3%.

1.6 Development to the east of Ampthill in the 1980s and 90s extended across the 
parish boundaries of Ampthill and Maulden (as shown at Appendix L).  It is therefore 
recommended that this anomaly is corrected by formally incorporating the relevant 
properties into the parish of Ampthill.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Maulden should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Maulden Parish Council be reduced to 
eight; and

2.3 That the boundary of the parish be changed to exclude the properties at 
Numbers 1 to 8 Yew Walk; 8 to 68 (evens) Cherry Tree Way; 7, 9 & 27 Exton Close 
and 1 to 7 (odds) Ailesbury Road.

.

Page 115
Agenda Item 7



88

APPENDIX L

Page 116
Agenda Item 7



89

Meppershall

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 10 1415 1548 142 155 -51%

1.1 Meppershall parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 10 seats on 
the Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 78 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Campton & 
Chicksands, Clifton, Gravenhurst, Henlow, Shefford, Shillington and Stondon. The 
parish, together with the parishes of Campton & Chicksands and Shefford are 
coterminous within the district ward of Shefford.

1.3 The submissions from the Parish Council and the 7 online responses that were 
received from the public can be found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx

1.4 The 2011 and the 2015 elections were uncontested with 8 nominations in 2011 
and 9 nominations in 2015. Consequently, and notwithstanding that 6 of the 7 
submissions from the public requested a retention in the current number of 
councillors, it is recommended that the number of councillors be reduced to 7 which 
would have the effect of increasing the ratio of electors to seats to 221 (-31% 
variance from average).

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 9.4%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Meppershall should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Meppershall Parish Council be 
reduced to seven; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Meppershall.

Page 117
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


90

Millbrook

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors to 

Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable N/A 122 125 N/A N/A

1.1 Millbrook is one of the seven parishes which do not have a Council but meets 
as a parish meeting. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a 
further 2 dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Ampthill, Lidlington, 
Marston Moretaine and Steppingley. The parish, together with the parishes of 
Brogborough, Cranfield, Hulcote & Salford, Lidlington, Ridgmont and Marston 
Moretaine are coterminous within the district ward of Cranfield.

1.3 There are only 65 properties and 122 electors in the parish. The parish 
operates as a parish meeting and has a relatively strong sense of identity.

1.4 The Parish Meeting nor the public submitted a response to the invitation of 
initial submissions.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 2.5%

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Millbrook should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the parish should not have a parish council; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Millbrook.

.

Page 118
Agenda Item 7



91

Milton Bryan

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors to 

Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable N/A 141 141 N/A N/A

1.1 Milton Bryan is one of the seven parishes which do not have a Council but 
meets as a parish meeting.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Battlesden, 
Eversholt, Toddington, Potsgrove and Woburn. The parish, together with the 
parishes of Aspley Guise, Aspley Heath, Battlesden, Eversholt, Husborne Crawley, 
Potsgrove and Woburn are coterminous within the district ward of Aspley & 
Woburn.

1.3 There are only 66 properties and 141 electors in the parish and there is no 
anticipated growth over the next 5 years. The parish operates as a parish meeting 
and has a relatively strong sense of identity.

1.4 The submissions from the Parish Meeting recommending no changes together 
with the 2 online responses that were received from the public that also 
recommended no changes can be found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is nil.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Milton Bryan should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the parish should not have a parish council; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Milton Bryan.

.

Page 119
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


92

Moggerhanger

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 9 516 547 57 61 -81%

1.1 Moggerhanger parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 9 seats on 
the Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 18 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Blunham, Northill 
and Sandy. The parish, together with the parishes of Northill, Old Warden and 
Southill are coterminous within the district ward of Northill.

1.3 The Parish Council did not submit a response to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, 1 online response was received from the public which can be 
found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx. 

1.4 The 2011 and the 2015 elections were uncontested with 8 nominations in 2011 
and 9 nominations in 2015. Consequently, and notwithstanding the 1 submission 
from the public to retain the current number of councillors, it is recommended that 
the number of councillors be reduced to 7 which would have the effect of increasing 
the ratio of electors to seats to 78 (-76% variance from average). 

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 6%.

1.6 The development ‘Old Station Court’ in the north of the parish has extended 
from the parish of Blunham (as shown at Appendix M1). It is therefore 
recommended that this anomaly is corrected by formally incorporating the relevant 
properties into the parish of Blunham.

1.7 The development at ‘Bridge Farm’ and ‘Ivel Cottage’ in the south of the parish 
have extended into the parish of Sandy (as shown at Appendix M2). It is therefore 
recommended that this anomaly is corrected by formally incorporating the relevant 
properties into the parish of Moggerhanger.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Moggerhanger should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Moggerhanger Parish Council be 
reduced to seven; and

2.3 That the boundaries of the parish be changed to exclude the properties at 
numbers 7 to 17 (odds) and number 18 Old Station Court but to include Bridge Farm 
and Ivel Cottage.

Page 120
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


93

APPENDIX M1

Page 121
Agenda Item 7



94

APPENDIX M2

Page 122
Agenda Item 7



95

Northill

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 12 1882 1950 157 163 -49%

1.1 Northill parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 12 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 40 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Biggleswade, 
Moggerhanger, Old Warden and Sandy. The parish, together with the parishes of 
Moggerhanger, Old Warden and Southill are coterminous within the district ward of 
Northill.

1.3 The Parish Council did not submit a response to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, 1 online response was received from the public which can be 
found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx. The 
submission from Biggleswade Town Council to extend its western boundary to 
include the A1 is shown at Appendix N to this document.

1.4 The 2011 and the 2015 elections were contested with 15 nominations in 2011 
and 17 nominations in 2015. Nevertheless, and notwithstanding the 1 submission 
from the public to retain the current number of councillors, it is recommended that 
the number of councillors be reduced to 7 which would have the effect of increasing 
the ratio of electors to seats to 279 (-13% variance from average). 

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 3.6%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Northill should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Northill Parish Council be reduced to 
seven; and

2.3 That the parish boundaries between Northill and Biggleswade be reviewed.

Page 123
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


96

APPENDIX N

Page 124
Agenda Item 7



97

Old Warden

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors to 

Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 233 233 33 -90%

1.1 Old Warden parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats on the 
Council. There is no forecast development to March 2023.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Biggleswade, 
Haynes, Northill and Southill. The parish, together with the parishes of 
Moggerhanger, Northill and Southill are coterminous within the district ward of 
Northill.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 Whilst the 2011 elections were uncontested with 6 nominations and the 2015 
elections were contested with 8 nominations the National Association of Local 
Councils considers that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should 
be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is nil.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Old Warden should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Old Warden Parish Council remain 
unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Old Warden.

Page 125
Agenda Item 7



98

Potsgrove

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors to 

Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable N/A 37 37 N/A

1.1 Potsgrove is one of the seven parishes which do not have a Council but meets 
as a parish meeting.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Battlesden, Heath & 
Reach, Milton Bryan and Woburn. The parish, together with the parishes of Aspley 
Guise, Aspley Heath, Battlesden, Eversholt, Husborne Crawley, Milton Bryan and 
Woburn are coterminous within the district ward of Aspley & Woburn.

1.3 There are only 18 properties and 37 electors in the parish and there is no 
anticipated growth over the next 5 years. The parish operates as a parish meeting 
and has a relatively strong sense of identity.

1.4 The Parish Meeting nor the public submitted a response to the invitation of 
initial submissions.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is nil.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Potsgrove should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the parish should not have a parish council; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Potsgrove.

Page 126
Agenda Item 7



99

Potton

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 15 3948 4592 263 306 -4%

1.1 Potton parish has a Town Council.  It is unwarded and has 15 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 379 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Everton, Sandy, 
Sutton and Wrestlingworth & Cockayne Hatley. The parish, together with the 
parishes of Dunton, Edworth, Everton, Eyeworth, Tempsford, Sutton and 
Wrestlingworth & Cockayne Hatley are coterminous within the district ward of 
Potton.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 Whilst the 2011 elections were uncontested with 11 nominations and the 2015 
elections were contested with 16 nominations it is not considered appropriate to 
recommend a reduction in the number of councillors when taking into account the 
considerable amount of planned development.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 16.3%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Potton should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Potton Town Council remain 
unchanged (fifteen); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Potton.

Page 127
Agenda Item 7



100

Pulloxhill

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 835 837 120 120 -62%

1.1 Pulloxhill parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 1 
dwelling.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Barton-le-Clay, 
Flitton & Greenfield, Harlington, Silsoe and Westoning. The parish, together with the 
parishes of Flitton & Greenfield, Tingrith and Westoning are coterminous within the 
district ward of Westoning, Flitton & Greenfield.

1.3 The Parish Council did not submit a response to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, 1 online response received from the public proposed that the 
style of the Council be changed to Village Council, which can be found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx. 

1.4 While the 2011 and the 2015 elections were uncontested with 7 nominations 
in 2011 and only 3 nominations in 2015 the National Association of Local Councils 
considers that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 0.2%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Pulloxhill should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Pulloxhill Parish Council remain 
unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Pulloxhill.

Page 128
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


101

Ridgmont

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 9 359 362 40 40 -88%

1.1 Ridgmont parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 9 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 2 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Brogborough, 
Eversholt, Husborne Crawley, Steppingley, Lidlington and Woburn. The parish, 
together with the parishes of Brogborough, Cranfield, Hulcote & Salford, Lidlington, 
Marston Moretaine and Millbrook are coterminous within the district ward of 
Cranfield.

1.3 The submissions from the Parish Council to reduce the number of councillors 
together with the 3 online responses that were received from the public can be 
found at  http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx

1.4 The 2011 elections were contested with 10 nominations. However, the 2015 
elections were uncontested with only 5 nominations. Consequently, and 
notwithstanding the 3 submissions from the public to retain the current number of 
councillors, it is recommended that the number of councillors be reduced to 7 which 
would have the effect of increasing the ratio of electors to seats to 52 (-84% variance 
from average).

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 0.8%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Ridgmont should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Ridgmont Parish Council be reduced 
to seven; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Ridgmont.

Page 129
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


102

Sandy

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Beeston 1 679 679 679 679 +113%

Fallowfield 3 1534 1534 511 511 +60%

Ivel 5 2962 2962 592 592 +86%

Pinnacle 6 4124 4124 687 687 +115%

1.1 Sandy parish has a Town Council and is currently divided into 4 wards. Beeston 
ward with 1 Councillor, Fallowfield ward with 3 councillors, Ivel ward with 5 
councillors and Pinnacle ward with 6 councillors. There is no forecast development 
to March 2023

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Biggleswade, 
Blunham, Everton, Moggerhanger, Northill, Potton, Sutton and Tempsford. The 
parish, together with the parish of Blunham are coterminous within the district ward 
of Sandy.

1.3 The Town Council did not submit a response to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, 5 online responses were received from the public which can 
be found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx

1.4 The 2011 elections were contested in Fallowfield ward with 4 nominations and 
in the Ivel ward with 8 nominations.  However, the elections in both the Beeston and 
Pinnacle wards were uncontested with 1 and 5 nominations respectively.   The 2015 
elections were all uncontested with 1 nomination for Beeston, 3 for Fallowfield, 4 for 
Ivel and 3 for Pinnacle which would suggest that a review of the number of 
councillors would be appropriate.  However, when considering the mixed online 
responses and the forecast ratio of electors to seats, any reduction in councillor 
numbers would not be beneficial.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is nil.

1.6 The development at ‘Bridge Farm’ and ‘Ivel Cottage’ in the south west of the 
parish have extended into the parish of Sandy. It is therefore recommended that this 
anomaly is corrected by formally incorporating the relevant properties into the 
parish of Moggerhanger (shown at Appendix O).

Page 130
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


103

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Sandy should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Sandy Town Council remain 
unchanged (fifteen); and

2.3 That the boundary of the parish be changed to exclude the properties at Bridge 
Farm and Ivel Cottage.

Page 131
Agenda Item 7



104

APPENDIX O

Page 132
Agenda Item 7



105

Shefford

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 15 5076 5368 338 358 +12%

1.1 Shefford parish has a Town Council.  It is unwarded and has 15 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 172 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Campton & 
Chicksands, Clifton, Meppershall and Southill. The parish, together with the parishes 
of Campton & Chicksands and Meppershall are coterminous within the district ward 
of Shefford.

1.3 The submissions from the Town Council and a CBC Shefford ward councillor to 
extend the parish boundary together with the 6 online responses that were received 
from the public can be found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx with 
maps of the proposed extensions at Appendices P1 and P2 to this document.

1.4 Whilst the 2011 and the 2015 elections were uncontested with 13 nominations 
in 2011 and 12 nominations in 2015 it is not considered appropriate to recommend a 
reduction in the number of councillors when taking into account the mixed online 
responses and the amount of planned development.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 5.8%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Shefford should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Shefford Town Council remain 
unchanged (fifteen); and

2.3 That the parish boundaries between Shefford and Clifton be reviewed.

Page 133
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


106

APPENDIX P1

Page 134
Agenda Item 7



107

APPENDIX P2

Page 135
Agenda Item 7



108

Page 136
Agenda Item 7



109

Shillington

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 10 1619 1646 162 165 -48%

1.1 Shillington parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 10 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 16 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Barton-le-Clay, 
Gravenhurst, Meppershall and Stondon. The parish, together with the parishes of 
Gravenhurst and Silsoe are coterminous within the district ward of Silsoe & 
Shillington.

1.3 The Parish Council did not submit a response to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, 1 online response was received from the public which can be 
found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx. 

1.4 The 2011 elections were uncontested with 10 nominations. However, the 2015 
elections were contested with 11 nominations. Nevertheless, and notwithstanding 
the 1 submission from the public to retain the current number of councillors, it is 
recommended that the number of councillors be reduced to 7 which would have the 
effect of increasing the ratio of electors to seats to 235 (-26% variance from 
average).

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 1.7%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Shillington should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Shillington Parish Council be reduced 
to seven; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Shillington.

Page 137
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


110

Silsoe

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 10 2296 2344 230 234 -27%

1.1 Silsoe has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 10 seats on the Council. The 
forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 28 dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Clophill, Flitton and 
Greenfield, Gravenhurst, Maulden and Pulloxhill. The parish, together with the 
parishes of Gravenhurst and Shillington are coterminous within the district ward of 
Silsoe & Shillington.

1.3 The Parish Council did not submit a response to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, 2 online responses were received from the public which can 
be found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx. 

1.4 The 2011 and the 2015 elections were uncontested with 9 nominations in 2011 
and 8 nominations in 2015. Consequently, and notwithstanding the 2 mixed 
submissions from the public to both reduce and retain the current number of 
councillors, it is recommended that the number of councillors be reduced to 7 which 
would have the effect of increasing the ratio of electors to seats to 335 (+5% 
variance from average).

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 2.1%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Silsoe should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Silsoe Parish Council be reduced to 
seven; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Silsoe.

Page 138
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


111

Slip End

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors to 

Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 1511 1511 216 -32.3%

1.1 Slip End parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats on the 
Council. There is no forecast development to March 2023

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Caddington and 
Hyde. The parish, together with the parishes of Caddington, Hyde, Kensworth, 
Studham and Whipsnade are coterminous within the district ward of Caddington, 
Hyde and Slip End.

1.3 The Parish Council did not submit a response to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, 1 online response was received from the public which can be 
found at  http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx

1.4 While the 2011 elections were contested with 8 nominations and the 2015 
elections were uncontested with 7 nominations the National Association of Local 
Councils considers that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should 
be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is nil.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Slip End should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Slip End Parish Council remain 
unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Slip End.

Page 139
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


112

Southill

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Broom 6 490 495 82 83 -74%

Southill 3 268 270 89 90 -72%

Stanford 3 212 214 71 71 -78%

1.1 Southill parish has a Parish Council and is currently divided into 3 wards. 
Broom ward with 6 councillors and Southill and Stanford wards with 3 councillors 
each. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 3 dwellings 
in the Broom ward and 1 dwelling in each of the Southill and Stanford wards.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Biggleswade, 
Campton & Chicksands, Clifton, Haynes, Langford, Old Warden and Shefford. The 
parish, together with the parishes of Moggerhanger, Northill and Old Warden are 
coterminous within the district ward of Northill.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 The 2011 and the 2015 elections were uncontested in all the wards with 5 
nominations for the Broom ward, 3 for Southill and 2 for Stanford in 2011 and 3 for 
Broom, 2 for Southill and 3 for Stanford in 2015. Consequently, it is recommended 
that the number of councillors be reduced to 8 (4 for Broom ward and 2 each for 
Southill and Stanford wards) which would have the effect of increasing the ratio of 
electors to seats to 123 for Broom ward (-61% variance from average), 135 for 
Southill ward (-58% variance from average) and 107 for Stanford ward (-67% 
variance from average).

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 0.9%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Southill should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Southill Parish Council be reduced to 
eight (Broom (4), Southill (2) and Stanford (2)); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Southill.

Page 140
Agenda Item 7



113

Stanbridge

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 615 623 88 89 -72%

1.1 Stanbridge parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 5 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Eaton Bray, 
Eggington, Great Billington, Tilsworth and Totternhoe. The parish, together with the 
parishes of Chalgrave, Eggington, Heath & Reach, Hockliffe and Tilsworth are 
coterminous within the district ward of Heath & Reach.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 Whilst the 2011 and the 2015 elections were uncontested with only 2 
nominations in 2011 and 5 nominations in 2015 the National Association of Local 
Councils considers that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should 
be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 1.3%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Stanbridge should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Stanbridge Parish Council remain 
unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Stanbridge.

Page 141
Agenda Item 7



114

Steppingley

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors to 

Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 172 172 25 -92%

1.1 Steppingley parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats on the 
Council. There is no forecast development to March 2023.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Ampthill, Eversholt, 
Flitwick, Millbrook and Ridgmont. The parish, together with the parish of Flitwick are 
coterminous within the district ward of Flitwick.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 Whilst the 2011 elections were contested with 8 nominations and the 2015 
elections were uncontested with 6 nominations the National Association of Local 
Councils considers that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should 
be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is nil.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Steppingley should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Steppingley Parish Council remain 
unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Steppingley.

Page 142
Agenda Item 7



115

Stondon

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 10 2125 2302 213 230 -27.9%

1.1 Stondon parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 10 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 104 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Henlow, 
Meppershall and Shillington. The parish, together with the parishes of Arlesey, 
Clifton and Henlow are coterminous within the district ward of Arlesey.

1.3 The submissions from the Parish Council  to extend the parish boundary 
together with the 66 online responses that were received from the public can be 
found at  http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx 
with the map of the proposed extensions at Appendix Q to this document.

1,4 The survey carried out by the Parish Council to extend the parish boundary into 
the parish of Henlow generated considerable but mixed responses.  Moreover, such 
a proposal would require a separate governance review which invited a response 
from every household in both effected parishes. The scale of the proposal would 
involve the transfer of some 734 properties with a substantial effect on both parish 
precepts. Therefore, it is not considered appropriate to include this proposal as part 
of the current review. 

1.5 The 2011 elections were contested with 12 nominations and the 2015 
elections were uncontested with 9 nominations. Consequently, and notwithstanding 
the mixed submissions from the public to both reduce and retain the current 
number of councillors, it is recommended that the number of councillors be reduced 
to 7 which would have the effect of increasing the ratio of electors to seats to 328 
(+2.8% variance from average).

1.6 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 8.3%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Stondon should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Stondon Parish Council be reduced to 
seven; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Stondon.

Page 143
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


116

APPENDIX Q

Page 144
Agenda Item 7



117

Stotfold

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 15 6787 6988 452 466 +46%

1.1 Stotfold parish has a Town Council.  It is unwarded and has 15 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 118 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Arlesey, Astwick and 
Fairfield. The parish, together with the parishes of Astwick, Fairfield and Langford are 
coterminous within the district ward of Stotfold & Langford.

1.3 The Town Council did not submit a response to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, 4 online mixed responses received from the public can be 
found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx. 

1.4 Whilst the 2011 and the 2015 elections were uncontested with 14 nominations 
in 2011 and 13 nominations in 2015 it is not considered appropriate to recommend a 
reduction in the number of councillors when taking into account the amount of 
planned development.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 3%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Stotfold should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Stotfold Town Council remain 
unchanged (fifteen); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Stotfold.

Page 145
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


118

Streatley

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors to 

Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 1384 1384 198 -37.9%

1.1 Streatley parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats on the 
Council. There is no forecast development to March 2023.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Barton-Le-Clay, 
Harlington and Sundon. The parish, together with the parishes of Chalton, 
Harlington, Sundon and Toddington are coterminous within the district ward of 
Toddington.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 Whilst the 2011 and the 2015 elections were uncontested with 6 nominations 
in 2011 and only 5 nominations in 2015 the National Association of Local Councils 
considers that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is nil.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Streatley should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Streatley Parish Council remain 
unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Streatley.

Page 146
Agenda Item 7



119

Studham

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 1002 1033 143 148 -54%

1.1 Studham parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 18 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parish Whipsnade. The parish, 
together with the parishes of Caddington, Hyde, Kensworth, Slip End and Whipsnade 
are coterminous within the district ward of Caddington, Hyde and Slip End.

1.3 The Parish Council did not submit a response to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, 2 online responses were received from the public which can 
be found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx. 

1.4 Whilst the 2011 and the 2015 elections were uncontested with only 5 
nominations in 2011 and 7 nominations in 2015 the National Association of Local 
Councils considers that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should 
be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 3%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Studham should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Studham Parish Council remain 
unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Studham.

Page 147
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


120

Sundon

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 371 373 53 53 -83%

1.1 Sundon parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 1 
dwelling.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Chalton, Harlington, 
Streatley and Toddington. The parish, together with the parishes of Chalton, 
Harlington, Streatley and Toddington are coterminous within the district ward of 
Toddington.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 While the 2011 and the 2015 elections were uncontested with 6 nominations 
in 2011 and only 4 nominations in 2015 the National Association of Local Councils 
considers that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 0.5%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Sundon should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Sundon Parish Council remain 
unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Sundon.

Page 148
Agenda Item 7



121

Sutton

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 234 237 34 34 -89%

1.1 Sutton parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 2 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Biggleswade, 
Dunton, Eyeworth, Potton, Sandy and Wrestlingworth & Cockayne Hatley. The 
parish, together with the parishes of Dunton, Edworth, Everton, Eyeworth, Potton, 
Tempsford and Wrestlingworth & Cockayne Hatley are coterminous within the 
district ward of Potton.

1.3 The submission from the Parish Council recommended that no changes be 
made and there were no responses from the public.

1.4 While the 2011 elections were contested with 8 nominations and the 2015 
elections were uncontested with 7 nominations the National Association of Local 
Councils considers that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should 
be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 1.3%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Sutton should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Sutton Parish Council remain 
unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Sutton.

Page 149
Agenda Item 7



122

Tempsford

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 486 491 69 70 -78%

1.1 Tempsford parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 3 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Blunham, Everton 
and Sandy. The parish, together with the parishes of Dunton, Edworth, Everton, 
Eyeworth, Potton, Sutton and Wrestlingworth & Cockayne Hatley are coterminous 
within the district ward of Potton.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 Whilst the 2011 elections were uncontested with 6 nominations and the 2015 
elections were contested with 8 nominations the National Association of Local 
Councils considers that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should 
be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 1%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Tempsford should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Tempsford Parish Council remain 
unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Tempsford.

Page 150
Agenda Item 7



123

Tilsworth

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 336 338 48 48 -85%

1.1 Tilsworth parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 1 
dwelling.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Chalgrave, Houghton 
Regis, Hockliffe, Stanbridge and Totternhoe. The parish, together with the parishes 
of Chalgrave, Eggington, Heath & Reach, Hockliffe and Stanbridge are coterminous 
within the district ward of Heath & Reach.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 Whilst the 2011 and the 2015 elections were uncontested with 6 nominations 
in 2011 and only 3 nominations in 2015 the National Association of Local Councils 
considers that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 0.6%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Tilsworth should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Tilsworth Parish Council remain 
unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Tilsworth.

Page 151
Agenda Item 7



124

Tingrith

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors to 

Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable N/A 131 131 N/A

1.1 Tingrith is one of the seven parishes which do not have a Council but meets as 
a parish meeting. There is no forecast development to March 2023.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Eversholt, Flitwick, 
Toddington and Westoning. The parish, together with the parishes of Flitton & 
Greenfield, Pulloxhill and Westoning are coterminous within the district ward of 
Westoning and Flitton & Greenfield.

1.3 There are only 70 properties and 131 electors in the parish and there is no 
anticipated growth over the next 5 years. The parish operates as a parish meeting 
and has a relatively strong sense of identity.

1.4 The Parish Meeting nor the public submitted a response to the invitation of 
initial submissions.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is nil.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Tingrith should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the parish should not have a parish council; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Tingrith. 

Page 152
Agenda Item 7



125

Toddington

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors to 

Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 11 3648 3648 332 +4%

1.1 Toddington parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 11 seats on the 
Council. There is no forecast development to March 2023.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Battlesden, Chalton, 
Chalgrave, Milton Bryan, Harlington, Sundon, Tingrith and Westoning. The parish, 
together with the parishes of Chalton, Harlington, Streatley and Sundon are 
coterminous within the district ward of Toddington.

1.3 The Parish Council did not submit a response to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, 1 online response was received from the public which can be 
found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx. 

1.4 The 2011 and the 2015 elections were uncontested with 9 nominations in 2011 
and 11 nominations in 2015.  Consequently, and notwithstanding the 1 submission 
from the public to retain the current number of councillors, it is recommended that 
the number of councillors be reduced to 9 which would have the effect of increasing 
the ratio of electors to seats to 405 (+27% variance from average).

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is nil.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Toddington should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Toddington Parish Council be reduced 
to nine; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Toddington.

Page 153
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


126

Totternhoe

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors to 

Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 9 983 983 109 -66%

1.1 Totternhoe parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 9 seats on the 
Council. There is no forecast development to March 2023.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Dunstable, Eaton 
Bray, Houghton Regis, Kensworth, Stanbridge, Tilsworth and Whipsnade. The parish, 
together with the parishes of Great Billington and Eaton Bray are coterminous within 
the district ward of Heath & Reach.

1.3 The submissions from the Parish Council to increase the number of councillors 
together with the proposal  to extend the boundaries and the 1 online response that 
was received from the public can be found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx  with a 
map of the proposed extensions at Appendix R to this document. However, the 
proposals to extend into several fields in the northern quarter of the parish is 
deemed contrary to the Terms of Reference given that the area does not contain a 
‘community’ at this stage.  

1.4 The 2011 and the 2015 elections were uncontested with only 6 nominations in 
2011 and 7 nominations in 2015. Consequently, and notwithstanding the submission 
from the parish council to increase and the member of the public to retain the 
current number of councillors, it is recommended that the number of councillors be 
reduced to 7 which would have the effect of increasing the ratio of electors to seats 
to 140 (-56% variance from average).

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is nil.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Totternhoe should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Totternhoe Parish Council be reduced 
to seven; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Totternhoe.

Page 154
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


127

APPENDIX R

Page 155
Agenda Item 7



128

Page 156
Agenda Item 7



129

Westoning

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 10 1700 1703 170 170 -47%

1.1 Westoning parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 10 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 2 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Flitton & Greenfield, 
Flitwick, Harlington, Pulloxhill, Tingrith and Toddington. The parish, together with 
the parishes of Flitton & Greenfield, Pulloxhill and Tingrith are coterminous within 
the district ward of Westoning, Flitton & Greenfield.

1.3 The Parish Council did not submit a response to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, 1 online response was received from the public which can be 
found at  http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx

1.4 The 2011 and the 2015 elections were uncontested with 9 nominations in 2011 
and 8 nominations in 2015. Consequently, and notwithstanding the 1 submission 
from the public to retain the current number of councillors, it is recommended that 
the number of councillors be reduced to 7 which would have the effect of increasing 
the ratio of electors to seats to 243 (-24% variance from average).

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 0.2%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Westoning should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Westoning Parish Council be reduced 
to seven; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Westoning.

Page 157
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


130

Whipsnade

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 387 389 55 56 -82%

1.1 Whipsnade parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 1 
dwelling.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Eaton Bray, 
Kensworth, Studham and Totternhoe. The parish, together with the parishes of 
Caddington, Hyde, Kensworth, Slip End and Studham are coterminous within the 
district ward of Caddington, Hyde and Slip End.

1.3 The Parish Council did not submit a response to the invitation of initial 
submissions. However, 1 online response recommending no changes was received 
from the public which can be found at  
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx

1.4 Whilst the 2011 and the 2015 elections were uncontested with 6 nominations 
in 2011 and 6 nominations in 2015 the National Association of Local Councils 
considers that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 0.5%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Whipsnade should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Whipsnade Parish Council remain 
unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Whipsnade.

Page 158
Agenda Item 7

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/results.aspx


131

Woburn

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 9 781 789 87 88 -72%

1.1 Woburn parish has a Parish Council.  It is unwarded and has 7 seats on the 
Council. The forecast development to March 2023 is estimated at a further 5 
dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Aspley Guise, Aspley 
Heath, Eversholt, Husborne Crawley, Milton Bryan and Potsgrove. The parish, 
together with the parishes of Aspley Guise, Aspley Heath, Battlesden, Eversholt, 
Husborne Crawley, Milton Bryan and Potsgrove are coterminous within the district 
ward of Aspley & Woburn.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 The 2011 and the 2015 elections were uncontested with 8 nominations in 2011 
and 9 nominations in 2015. Consequently, it is recommended that the number of 
councillors be reduced to 7 which would have the effect of increasing the ratio of 
electors to seats to 113 (-65% variance from average).

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 1%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Woburn should remain unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Woburn Parish Council be reduced to 
seven; and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Woburn.

Page 159
Agenda Item 7



132

Wrestlingworth & Cockayne Hatley

1 Background

Parish Ward Seats 1 Sept 
2017

Electorate

31 March 
2023

Electorate

Ratio 
Electors 
to Seats

Forecast 
Ratio 

Electors 
to Seats

Variance 
from 

Average

Not Applicable 7 642 654 92 93 -71%

1.1 Wrestlingworth and Cockayne Hatley parish has a Parish Council.  It is 
unwarded and has 7 seats on the Council. The forecast development to March 2023 
is estimated at a further 7 dwellings.

1.2 The parish boundary adjoins the neighbouring parishes of Eyeworth, Potton 
and Sutton. The parish, together with the parishes of Dunton, Edworth, Everton, 
Eyeworth, Potton, Sutton and Tempsford are coterminous within the district ward of 
Potton.

1.3 Neither the Parish Council nor the public submitted a response to the 
invitation of initial submissions.

1.4 Whilst the 2011 and the 2015 elections were uncontested with 6 nominations 
in 2011 and 7 nominations in 2015 the National Association of Local Councils 
considers that the practical minimum number of parish councillors should be seven.

1.5 The overall projected electorate growth over 5 years is 1.9%.

2 Draft Recommendations
2.1 That the parish name of Wrestlingworth & Cockayne Hatley should remain 
unchanged;

2.2 That the number of parish councillors on Wrestlingworth & Cockayne Hatley 
Parish Council remain unchanged (seven); and

2.3 That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Wrestlingworth & 
Cockayne Hatley.

Page 160
Agenda Item 7



133

That no change should be made to the parish boundary of Arlesey 

Find us online: www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/consultations

Call: 0300 300 4049 

Email: consultations@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Write to: Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory House, 
Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford, Bedfordshire SG17 5TQ

Page 161
Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Central Bedfordshire Council

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE            29 March 2018

GENDER PAY GAP STATEMENT - 31 MARCH 2017
 
Report of Cllr Richard Wenham, Deputy Leader and Executive Member for 
Corporate Resources

Advising Officers: 
Charles Warboys, Director of Resources 
charles.warboys@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Vikki Chapman, Assistant Director - People
vikki.chapman@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Purpose of this report

The report sets out the details of Central Bedfordshire Council’s Gender Pay 
Gap. 

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Committee is asked to:

1. Note the contents of the report and appendix. 

Overview and Scrutiny Comments/Recommendations

1. This matter has been requested as an information only update for the 
General Purposes Committee and therefore has not been submitted to 
Overview and Scrutiny.

Background 

2. From April 2017, the Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties and Public 
Authorities) Regulations 2017 (S12017/353) requires public sector 
employers with 250 or more employees to publish statutory gender pay 
gap calculations every year. 

3. The data must be a snapshot of salary data on 31 March 2017 and must 
be published on our own website and a government website by 30 March 
2018. 

4. There is a similar requirement of the private sector.

Page 163
Agenda Item 8

mailto:charles.warboys@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:vikki.chapman@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk


5. The gender pay gap is a measure of any disparity in pay between the 
average earnings of males and females.  A positive pay gap indicates that 
men are paid more, a negative pay gap indicates that women are paid 
more. 

6. The gender pay gap is different to equal pay.  Equal pay relates to men 
and women receiving equal pay for equal work; not meeting this 
requirement has been unlawful for over 45 years. 

7. The table below sets out the figures we are required to publish. 

8. In addition to the above Central Bedfordshire Council has chosen to 
publish the Gender Pay Gap for the Senior Management Group. 

9. The attached Gender Pay Gap Analysis March 2017 (Appendix A) is due 
to be published on the Council’s Transparency intranet pages on 30 March 
2018. Publication of future reports will be timed alongside the annual 
release of transparency information in October.

 
10.CBC are publishing statutory requirements but more detailed analysis and 

action plans will form part of annual equality and diversity reporting. 

Benchmark

11.As at the 5 March, 74 councils and 9 unitary authorities had published their 
gender pay gap data. The summary data can be seen in the table below. 
The mean and median gap figures for CBC (16.10% and 18.15%) sit 
above the mean for all councils and more specifically unitary authorities 
but below the maximum. However, it is important to note that relatively few 
have published and accurate benchmarking cannot take place until after 
the deadline date of 31 March. In addition, the make-up of a council in 
terms of the services offered in-house or outsourced will significantly 
impact the gender profile.

Page 164
Agenda Item 8



Summary (5 March 2018)  
Min of gap 
figure (%)

Mean of gap 
figure (%)

Max of gap 
figure (%)

Mean difference -11.0 6.2 26.8

COUNCILS Median difference -42.0 3.4 33.6

Mean difference 0.5 8.9 16.3

UNITARY AUTHORITIES Median difference -2.9 9.9 23.3

Council Priorities

12.This report and the attached Gender Pay Gap Statement do not directly 
support the Council’s priorities but meets the requirements of the Equality 
Act 2010 (Specific Duties and Public Authorities) Regulations 2017 
(S12017/353).

Corporate Implications 

Legal Implications

13.This report and the attached Gender Pay Gap Statement meets the 
requirements of the Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties and Public 
Authorities) Regulations 2017 (S12017/353) which requires all public-
sector employers with 250 or more employees to publish statutory gender 
pay gap calculations every year.

14.The Equality and Human Rights Commission can enforce any failure to 
comply with the Regulations. 

Financial Implications

15.There are no direct implications from this report or the attached Gender 
Pay Gap Statement.

Equalities Implications

16.There are no direct implications from this report or the attached Gender 
Pay Gap Statement 1, however more detailed analysis and action plans 
will form part of annual equalities and diversity reporting.

Appendices:

Appendix A – Gender Pay Gap Statement March 2017

Background Papers:

None

Page 165
Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
  

 

 

 

Gender Pay Gap Report 
2017 

Page 167
Agenda Item 8

ManningL01
Text Box
Appendix A



 

 

Introduction 
From 2017, under the Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties and Public Authorities) 
Regulations 2017, Central Bedfordshire Council, along with any organisation 
that has 250 or more employees must publish and report specific figures about 
their gender pay gap.  

The gender pay gap is the difference between the average earnings of men 
and women, expressed relative to men’s earnings. This is not an indicator of 
equal pay and must not be confused as such; it is a high-level indicator of 
earnings and hence the types of roles held by male and female employees 
within an organisation to prompt a discussion on proportional differences at 
organisational, industry and national level.  

The figures must be calculated using a specific reference date - this is called 
the ‘snapshot date’, which is 31st March for public sector organisations. 

The data that must be published and that will be set out in the following report 
for 31st March 2017 includes  

• mean gender pay gap in hourly pay 

• median gender pay gap in hourly pay 

• mean bonus gender pay gap 

• median bonus gender pay gap 

• proportion of males and females receiving a bonus payment 

• proportion of males and females in each pay quartile 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 168
Agenda Item 8



 

 

Central Bedfordshire Council 
Central Bedfordshire Council is an equal opportunities employer, committed to 
treating applicants fairly in relation to the following protected characteristics; 
age, disability, sex, gender reassignment, pregnancy, maternity, race (which 
includes colour, nationality and ethnic or national origins), sexual orientation, 
religion or belief, or because someone is married or in a civil partnership. 

As at the snapshot date of 31st March 2017 the full pay relevant1 split of male 
to female workers was Male 26%, Female 74%. 

 

Workforce distribution across the grades by gender – headcount of full 
pay relevant employees 

 

                                                      

1 Any employee who is employed on the snapshot date and who is paid their usual full basic pay (or pay for 
piecework) during the relevant pay period will be a full-pay relevant employee. 

Male

26% 

Female
74%

Full	Pay	Relevant	Employees	- Gender	Split

7

13

25

50

13

47

42

61

53

47

72

54

60

34

23

7

3

1

12

40

146

187

87

151

229

201

197

124

156

94

67

54

27

9

2

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

H

G

F

E

HofS

AD

Dir

CE
Male Female

Page 169
Agenda Item 8



 

 

Gender pay gap data – averages of hourly pay 
The calculations compare the mean and median2 hourly rate of full pay relevant 
employees as follows: 

 

Mean gender pay gap in hourly pay 

 

Median gender pay gap in hourly pay 

 

 

Gender pay gap data – bonuses 
Central Bedfordshire Council does not pay bonuses therefore a gap 
comparison and proportion of bonus recipients by gender indicator is not 
applicable. 

                                                      

2  A mean average involves adding up all of the numbers and dividing the result by how many numbers were in 
the list. A median average involves listing all of the numbers in numerical order. If there is an odd number of 
results, the median average is the middle number. If there is an even number of results, the median will be the 
mean of the two central numbers. 

Page 170
Agenda Item 8



 

 

Proportion of males and females in each pay quartile 
The calculation used to compare the male and female proportions in the 
quartiles is as follows: 

 

How the proportion of male and female employees compares to the proportion 
within the workforce as a whole indicates the existence of a gender pay gap. 

 

Gender split of pay quartiles 

 

Pay Quartile Male % Female % 

Lower 19.03 80.97 

Lower middle 19.70 80.30 

Upper middle 24.75 75.25 

Upper 38.90 61.10 

 

 

 

  

Page 171
Agenda Item 8



 

 

Senior Management 
The CBC senior management group (SMG), namely Heads of Service and above, split 
by gender is Male 46% and Female 54%. CBC has chosen to review the Gender Pay 
Gap of the SMG as a specific group. The Gender Pay Gap calculated using the 
prescribed method outlined above is 9.43% and -0.58% for the Mean and Median 
respectively.  

Review 
There is good higher level female representation at Central Bedfordshire Council, 
with two of the five in scope Directors at CBC and 9 of the 16 in scope Assistant 
Directors being female. CBC participates in the Local Government Benchmarking 
Scheme which relies on councils providing data relating to defined metrics which can 
then be collated to be used as a comparison against peer organisations. In relation to 
the workforce profile, the percentage of the top paid 5% of staff who are women for 
CBC for 2016/17 was 55.9% compared to the mean of all participating English 
Unitary Authorities of 51.5%. 

However, CBC does fall into the category of having a gender pay gap, visible from the 
lower hourly wage for females at the mean/median level and the deviation of the 
proportion of female staff across the pay quartiles from the proportion of female 
staff in the CBC workforce as a whole. The gap figures are driven by more female 
employees in the lower pay scale roles which typically include those in provision of 
care and administrative roles. At the higher end of the pay scales, within the SMG, 
the Gender Pay Gap reduces and the Median for this group is skewed more towards 
the Female SMG members. 

ACAS, the Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service indicate that the evidence 
behind a societal level pay gap is from various statistics provided (amongst others) 
by Office of National Statistics stating that 74% of childcare time is provided by 
mothers (ONS, 2016) and those provided by The Institute for Fiscal Studies that 
suggest that a pay gap the arrival of a child can widen any existing pay gap even 
further (IFS, 2016).  

ACAS believe that the factors that drive the gender pay gap are seen to be both 
within and out of the workplace and include more female employees requiring 
flexible working arrangements (for reasons which include, but are not only for 
childcare and other caring responsibilities) and a lack of well-paid part time/flexible 
jobs, stereotypes, less females in higher paid professions or areas of an organisation 
such as science, technology, engineering and maths and also constrained individual 
choice, unconscious bias and discrimination. 

CBC cannot tackle these issues alone; the reasons behind an employee’s working 
choice has many facets and is intertwined with other family members, therefore 
other employers. However, CBC can continue to provide opportunities for 
progression and flexible working for all genders. Many of CBCs roles allow agile 
working and also allow flexitime working, enabling flexibility around the work/life 
balance. CBC also participate in a childcare vouchers scheme. 

Page 172
Agenda Item 8



 

 

Central Bedfordshire Council believes in supporting the workforce as a whole but has 
also recognised that female employees can require tailored support. Springboard is 
an award-winning development programme run by CBC providing women with the 
skills to set their own agenda and the goals they want to achieve and is now in its 
sixth year. A recent review of participants presented very positive results; of the 54% 
who responded, 14 had been promoted and 4 had been seconded to a new role. In 
addition, of those who had a promotion, 83% felt it was as a direct result of 
attendance to Springboard. 

The future of addressing CBCs gender pay gap may lie with continuing to showcase 
the female leadership within the council, continuing to recruit upon merit rather that 
presumption, allowing robust job evaluation processes to remain in progress and 
ensuring that whatever a person’s gender, when roles become available, 
communication channels are in place from the offset to discuss any reasons why a 
suitably skilled employee is reluctant to apply.  

Page 173
Agenda Item 8



 

  

Find us online: www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk  

Call: 0300 300 8000  

Email: customers@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk 

Write to: Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory House,  
Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford, Bedfordshire SG17 5TQ 

Page 174
Agenda Item 8



Central Bedfordshire Council

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE 29 March 2018

REPORT ON THE ARRANGEMENTS FOR ETHICAL STANDARDS

Advising Officer: Quentin Baker, Monitoring Officer and Director LGSS Law 
Ltd
quentin.baker@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk  
Contact Officer: Maria Damigos, Corporate Lawyer, LGSS Law Ltd
maria.damigos@lgsslaw.co.uk 

Purpose of this report 

1. To provide the Committee with a summary of the Council’s ethical 
governance and arrangements since October 2017.

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Committee is asked to:
.

1. Note how the Council has complied with its obligations in respect of 
ethical standards under the Localism Act 2011 for the 6 months 
since March 2017.

2. Clarify the position on publication of Decision Notices for the 
outcome of Code of Conduct complaints and make any appropriate 
recommendations to Council to update the Constitution if 
necessary.

Overview and Scrutiny Comments/Recommendations

2. This Report is an update on ethical standards to the General Purposes 
Committee.  No decision by the Executive or Council for the Standards 
update is required.  Clarification is also sought regarding publication of 
the outcome of complaints against Councillors.  As the General 
Purposes Committee has responsibility for exercising the Council’s 
functions in relation to ethical standards no comments or 
recommendations have been sought.

Introduction
 
2. The Localism Act 2011 introduced revised arrangements for local 

authorities in respect of ethical standards, including the Code of 

Page 175
Agenda Item 10

mailto:quentin.baker@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:maria.damigos@lgsslaw.co.uk


Conduct, Register of Interests and the handling of complaints.   This 
Council’s obligations under the Act included certain responsibilities 
regarding the Register of Interests and the conduct of complaints 
relating to Town and Parish Councils (T&PCs).  

3. The Localism Act 2011 came into force on 1 July 2012 and in 
accordance with the Act the Council adopted a Code of Conduct, 
approved the matters that should be included in the Register of 
Interests and appointed a panel of Independent Persons to provide 
views on complaints.  

4. The General Purposes Committee has responsibility for exercising the 
Council’s functions under Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011 relating 
to ethical standards.

The Code of Conduct

5. The Code of Conduct adopted by the Council has also been adopted 
by most T&PCs in the area.  However, it is open to each Council to 
adopt its own code and so there is not a single code of conduct that 
covers all councils in Central Bedfordshire.  It is important therefore for 
Members to be clear which Code they are working to, and for the Code 
to be easily accessible to members of the public e.g. published on 
Councils' websites.

6. In practice, the Code seems to provide a sound framework for issues 
regarding the conduct of Members.  However an ongoing issue and 
area of debate remains the sanctions available to the Monitoring 
Officer and the Standards Sub Committee in the event of a breach of 
the Code.  Where there is a serious breach or persistent breaches of 
the Code there is no ability to suspend a Member from public office or 
attendance at public meetings.  A list of sanctions are found at 
paragraph 34 of Appendix A attached.

The Register of Interests

7. The items that must be included in the Register of Interests are those 
disclosable pecuniary interests that were prescribed by the government 
in Regulations.  The Council also adopted the following general 
obligation:  As an over-riding obligation, Members are required to abide 
by the law and the Nolan Committee Seven Principles of Public Life in 
determining whether any additional interests should be disclosed.

8. All councillors are under an obligation to notify the Monitoring Officer of 
any disclosable pecuniary interests they have within 28 days of their 
election to the Council.  They are also responsible for updating their 
register within 28 days of any change.  Failure to disclose a pecuniary 
interest is a potential criminal offence. 

Page 176
Agenda Item 10



9. Under the principle of honesty holders of public office have a duty to 
declare any private interests relating to their public duties and this is an 
ongoing obligation during a Member's term of office.

10. All Council members have disclosed their pecuniary interests.

11. The on line facility for amending the Register of Member’s Interests 
was being updated by Committee Services based on manual forms 
submitted by Members.   There is now direct access available for 
Members to update the Register themselves.  

12. Under the Act, this Council’s Monitoring Officer is also responsible for 
ensuring that the registers of interest for all the T&PCs in Central 
Bedfordshire are published on the Council’s website and are available 
for inspection.  

13. The up to date figures for notification of Town and Parish Councillors 
interests is attached as Appendix C. Queries relating to Town and 
Parish Council forms are continuing to be resolved and both LGSS Law 
Ltd and Committee Services continue to chase outstanding forms.

Independent Persons 

14. The Act provides that each Council must appoint at least one 
Independent Person whose views are to be sought and taken into 
account before the Council makes a decision following the investigation 
of a complaint that a Member of the Council or a Town or Parish 
Councillor has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct.  The Council 
normally also consults an Independent Person when making a decision 
on how to progress a complaint which comes under the Code of 
Conduct.   Subject Members also have the right to consult an 
Independent Person if a complaint is made about them.  A nominal fee 
and reasonable expenses are provided to an Independent Person per 
case.

15. The Council shares a joint panel of 4 Independent Persons with Luton 
and Milton Keynes Councils and the Buckinghamshire and Milton 
Keynes Fire Authority.  All Independent Persons were held on the 
Panel by way of retainer, the cost of which was shared across the 
Authorities with each Authority paying fees and expenses for their own 
cases.  

16. This arrangement works well providing an effective backstop and 
reality check for the Monitoring Officer as part of the initial assessment 
and investigations stages of the procedures and support for Members 
against whom a complaint has been made.  This arrangement also 
provides greater resilience in the event of unavailability, conflict and 
also for peaks of complaints as well as a greater breadth of experience.

Page 177
Agenda Item 10



Complaints

17. A copy of the procedure that the Council has adopted for handling 
complaints is attached as Appendix A.

18. The procedure provides that where the conduct complained of comes 
under the Code of Conduct, there will be an initial assessment of the 
complaint, in consultation with an Independent Person to decide 
whether there is a potential breach of the Code of Conduct and what, if 
any, further action to take.  This includes formal investigation which 
could lead to a Standards Sub-Committee hearing to determine the 
facts and, if appropriate, sanction the Member.  At any point the 
Monitoring Officer can ask for a review of the complaint by the 
Standards Sub-Committee. Current resources to administer this work 
are the Monitoring Officer's time with support from the Corporate 
Lawyer (currently 1FTE).  During the past 6 months no cases have 
been formally investigated.  

19. For the period October 2017 to March 2018 the Monitoring Officer has 
received 4 complaints (there were 2 in the same period last year) with 
3 complaints being carried over from September 2017 making a total of 
7 complaints being dealt with in the period. 

20. The complaints received were spread across 2 T&PCs (4 complaints) 
and CBC (3 complaints).  Of the complaints against CBC Members one 
was withdrawn and it was concluded that two contained insufficient 
evidence to proceed any further.  Appendix B shows the cumulative 
totals of complaints received for the past two years.

Training

21. Since August 2014 there has been ongoing liaison with the Clerks 
which has seen an increase in the queries related to ethical matters.  It 
is considered this has resulted in matters being dealt with before they 
become complaints.

22. T&PCs are also still being encouraged to deal with more minor matters 
at a local level and guidance on ethical matters continues to be 
provided to both Councillors and Clerks with specific training being 
provided in January 2018 to Council Members. 

23. Guidance on the responsibility of Members under the new data 
protection legislation is also being arranged.

Publication of Decisions

24. On 26 October 2016 this Committee considered the publication of the 
outcome of complaints against councillors and decided to implement 
this approach.  An extract of the relevant printed minutes is below:

Page 178
Agenda Item 10



GPC/16/20. Report on the Arrangements for Ethical Standards

The Committee received a report summarising the Council’s ethical governance and 
arrangements since March 2016. The report included explanations relating to the 
following:
…

 a proposal to publish the outcomes of decisions following complaints against 
Council members

…
Points and comments were made, as follows:

 the range of information included in published decisions following a 
complaint against a member of Central Bedfordshire Council could vary, 
depending on the circumstances, but would generally include the name of the 
Council member and the person who made the complaint with brief details of 
the complaint and the decision.

 a recommendation should be made to Council to amend the Constitution to 
enable the Monitoring Officer to publish such decisions

RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL
1. that the outcome of reports relating to complaints made under the Councillor 
Code of Conduct be published, and that the Constitution be amended to enable the 
Monitoring Officer to publish such decisions;

25. Full Council subsequently agreed to amend the Constitution and the 
following was inserted into Part 5B of the Council’s Constitution at 
paragraph 12 (please see Appendix A):

12. At the conclusion of a complaint against a Central Bedfordshire 
Council member a notice detailing the decision will be placed on the 
relevant page on the Council’s website.

26. This Committee is asked to clarify the detail of the publication of the 
outcome of complaints and in particular any restrictions on publication 
in specified circumstances including withdrawal, no further action and 
local resolution.   

 
Arrangements for the Future

27. The Monitoring Officer retains statutory responsibility for dealing with 
Code of Conduct complaints.  LGSS Law Ltd continues to deal with the 
day to day work relating to Code of Conduct and ethics issues.  There 
has been no change noted in the level of contact by T&PC’s it has 
been noted that there appears to be an increase in complaints.  This 
will be monitored for trends as well as preventative measures.  Work to 
encourage best practice, facilitating training and development 
opportunities and guidance for all Councillors and Clerks will continue.   

28. Monitoring and statistics for Code of Conduct complaints will continue 
to be provided.   

Page 179
Agenda Item 10



29. Where T&PCs require guidance unrelated to ethical matters this will be 
dealt with between LGSS Law Ltd and the T&PCs separately.

Council Priorities

30. The effectiveness of the Council’s governance arrangements 
contributes to the achievement of all the Council’s priorities.

Corporate Implications 

Risk Management

31. It is important that the Council has in place an effective local framework 
to secure high ethical standards in the conduct of its business.  The 
main risk to the Council of a failure in the area of ethical standards is 
reputational.

Staffing (including Trades Unions)

32. There are no specific staffing issues arising from this report, however 
members are reminded that the Councillor Code of Conduct is 
complemented by the Protocol for Member/Officer Relations.

Legal Implications

33. Under the Localism Act 2011, the Council introduced, as required, 
revised arrangements governing ethical standards, including a Code of 
Conduct, arrangements for handling complaints and the establishment 
of a Register of Members Interests.  The Council also has responsibility 
for overseeing the arrangements that are adopted by T&PCs and for 
investigating Code of Conduct complaints made against Town and 
Parish Councillors.  

Financial Implications

34. This report raises no specific financial implications at this time.  
However Members are advised that there are limited resources 
available for this work.  Guidance on, and work related to, ethical 
matters will be work undertaken by LGSS Law Ltd on behalf of the 
Council and therefore there is a need to ensure such work is as 
efficient as possible to minimise costs.  

Equalities Implications

35. Central Bedfordshire Council has a statutory duty to promote equality 
of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation and foster good relations in respect of nine protected 
characteristics; age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and 
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 
and sexual orientation.  These requirements are recognised in the 

Page 180
Agenda Item 10



accountability principle of public life which forms part of the Members 
Code of Conduct.

Conclusion and next Steps

36. The number and types of complaints cannot be predicted and the 
figures show that the number of complaints being dealt with has risen 
slightly and care will be taken to ensure matters are dealt with 
effectively.  

Appendices

The following Appendices are attached:

Appendix A – Part 5B of Constitution – Arrangements for dealing with 
Standards Allegations under the Localism Act 2011

Appendix B – Cumulative total of Councillor Code of Conduct Complaints
Appendix C – Figures for notification of Members Interests – to follow

Page 181
Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



Updated: March 2017 Part 5B  / Page 1 

PART 5B - ARRANGEMENTS FOR DEALING WITH STANDARDS 
ALLEGATIONS UNDER THE LOCALISM ACT 2011 
 
 Context 

 
1. These “Arrangements” are made in accordance with section 28 (6) and 

(7) of the Localism Act 2011.  They set out how to make a complaint 
that an elected or co-opted member of this Council or of a parish 
council within its area has failed to comply with the relevant authority’s 
Code of Conduct.  They also set out how the Council will deal with any 
complaints about such failures. 
 

 The Code of Conduct 
 

2. Central Bedfordshire Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for 
Members, and this Code is available for inspection on the Council’s 
website or on request from the Monitoring Officer at Priory House, 
Chicksands. 
 

3. Each town and parish council in the area is also required to adopt a 
Code of Conduct. Copies of these Codes are available on the relevant 
council’s website or on request from the town or parish clerk. 
 

 The Independent Person 
 

4. The Council is required to appoint at least one independent person.   
The Council must consult an independent person and take his/her 
views into account before making a decision on a complaint that it has 
investigated. 
 

5. The independent person may be consulted by the Council at various 
stages in the complaints process and can also be consulted by a 
Member who is the subject of a complaint. 
 

 Making a complaint 
 

6. A complaint that a member of Central Bedfordshire Council or of a 
town or parish council in the District has failed to observe the Council’s 
Code of conduct should be submitted to: 
 

7. The Monitoring Officer 
Central Bedfordshire Council 
Priory House 
Monks Walk 
Chicksands 
Shefford 
Bedfordshire 
SG17 5TQ 
 

Page 183
Agenda Item 10

ManningL01_1
Text Box
Appendix A



Updated: March 2017 Part 5B  / Page 2 

8. The Monitoring Officer is a senior officer of the authority who has 
statutory responsibility for maintaining the register of Members’ 
interests and who is responsible for administering the arrangements for 
complaints about Member misconduct. 
 

9. In order to ensure that the Monitoring Officer has all the information 
needed to process complaints, they should be submitted using the 
model complaint form which also explains the process and the relevant 
referral criteria at initial assessment.  The complaint form can be 
downloaded from the Council’s website. A copy of the form is also 
available on request from the Monitoring Officer. 
 

10. Complainants must provide their name, postal address and, where 
possible, their email address.  The Council will not normally investigate 
an anonymous complaint, unless there is a clear public interest in 
doing so. 
 

11. The Monitoring Officer will acknowledge receipt of the complaint and 
will notify the Member against whom the complaint is directed  by 
providing a copy of the complaint to them within 5 working days of 
receiving it, and will keep both the complainant and the Member 
informed about the progress of the complaint. 
 

 Complaints against Central Bedfordshire Council Members 
 

12. At the conclusion of a complaint against a Central Bedfordshire Council 
member a notice detailing the decision will be placed on the relevant 
page on the Council’s website. 
 

 Initial Assessment 
 

13. The Monitoring Officer will assess every Councillor Code of Conduct 
complaint received and, after consultation with the Independent 
Person, will take a decision as to whether it merits formal investigation.  
This decision will normally be taken within 20 working days of receipt of 
a complaint but may take longer if additional information is sought.  
 

 Whilst each allegation will be considered on its individual merits, the 
following “Referral Criteria” will be used at the initial assessment to 
decide whether to accept a complaint for investigation, take no further 
action or to decide upon some form of local resolution. 
 

 Referral Criteria 
 

14. The matters detailed below will be considered. 
 

Page 184
Agenda Item 10



Updated: March 2017 Part 5B  / Page 3 

 • Is the subject Member still a serving Member? 

• Is the information submitted sufficient on which to make a 
decision? 

• Is the complaint the same as or similar to a previous complaint? 

• the complainant’s view of the action which is proposed or has 
been taken 

• the steps already  taken or  proposed to remedy the action 
complained of 

• complaints about a Council member by a member of the same 
Council will not normally be referred until the Monitoring Officer 
considers that other processes such as informal, political group or 
Chairman mediation have taken place 

• the time passed since the alleged conduct occurred 

• whether the complaint involves conduct too trivial to warrant 
further action 

• whether the complaint appears to be malicious,  politically motived 
or tit for tat 

• whether the matter complained of is an individual act or part of a 
continuous pattern of behaviour which should be cumulatively  
considered 

• the public benefit in investigating the alleged complaint 

• the availability and cost of resources balanced with the 
seriousness of the alleged matter 

• Any complaint made by an officer about a Council member will 
normally only be referred for investigation after the protocol for 
Member/Officer Relations has been pursued. 

• any other substantial reason. 
 

15. Where the Monitoring Officer requires additional information in order to 
come to a decision, he/she may ask the complainant to provide further 
information, and may also request information from the Member 
against whom the complaint is directed.  
 

16. Where the complaint relates to a parish councillor, the Monitoring 
Officer may also inform the Parish Council about the complaint.  
 

 Informal Resolution 
 

17. In appropriate cases, the Monitoring Officer may seek to resolve the 
complaint informally without the need for a formal investigation.  Such 
informal resolution may involve, for example, the Member accepting 
that his/her conduct was unacceptable and offering an apology, or 
other appropriate remedial action.  Where the member or the authority 
makes a reasonable offer of informal resolution, but the complainant is 
unwilling to accept that offer, the Monitoring Officer will take account of 
this in deciding whether the complaint merits formal investigation. 
 
 

Page 185
Agenda Item 10



Updated: March 2017 Part 5B  / Page 4 

 Investigation 
 

18. If the Monitoring Officer decides that a complaint merits formal 
investigation, he/she will appoint an Investigating Officer, who may be 
another officer of the authority, an officer of another authority or an 
external investigator.  
 

19. The Investigating Officer will decide whether he/she needs to meet or 
speak to the complainant to understand the nature of the complaint, to 
obtain an understanding of events, to identify what documents the 
Investigating Officer needs to see and who the Investigating Officer 
needs to interview. 
 

20. The Investigating Officer will normally contact the Member against 
whom the complaint has been made to provide him/her with a copy of 
the complaint and to obtain the member’s explanation of events.  The 
Member will be invited to identify what documents the Investigating 
Officer needs to see and who he/she needs to interview.  
 

21. In exceptional cases, where it is appropriate to keep the complainant’s 
identity confidential or where disclosure of the details of the complaint 
to the member might prejudice the investigation, the Monitoring Officer 
may redact the complainant’s name and address from the papers given 
to the Member, or delay notifying the Member until the investigation 
has progressed sufficiently. 
 

22. At any point, the Investigating Officer may refer the complaint to the 
Monitoring Officer to resolve it without a full investigation or to reject it. 
 

23. At the end of his/her investigation, the Investigating Officer will produce 
a draft report and will send copies of that draft report, in confidence, to 
the complainant and to the Member concerned, to give them both an 
opportunity to identify any matter in the report with which they disagree 
or which requires more consideration. 
 

24. Having received and taken account of any comments made on the 
draft report, the Investigating Officer will submit his/her final report to 
the Monitoring Officer. 
 

25. The Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating Officer’s report and 
will decide what action to take.  There are three possible courses of 
action: 
 

 •  No action 
 

 •  Local Resolution 
 

 •  Hearing 
 

Page 186
Agenda Item 10



Updated: March 2017 Part 5B  / Page 5 

 No Action 
 

26. If the Investigating Officer concludes that there has been no breach 
and the Monitoring Officer is satisfied that this conclusion is sound, 
then he/she may decide that no further action should be taken in 
relation to the complaint.  If the Monitoring Officer is not so satisfied, 
then his/her decision will be final. 
 

 Local Resolution 
 

27. If the Investigating Officer concludes that there has been a breach of 
the Council’s Code of Conduct, the Monitoring Officer may, after 
consulting the Independent Person, seek a local resolution of the 
complaint. 
 

28. A local resolution may include the Member acknowledging that his/her 
conduct was unacceptable and offering an apology and or accepting 
other remedial action by the Council.  
 

29. If the Member and the complainant agree to accept the suggested 
resolution, the Monitoring Officer will report the matter to the Standards 
Sub-Committee (and the Parish Council) for information, but will take 
no further action.  Neither the Member nor the complainant has the 
right to reject the Monitoring Officer’s suggested resolution and any 
non-acceptance by either will be reported to the Standards Sub-
Committee. 
 

 Hearings 
 

30. If the Monitoring Officer considers that ‘local resolution’ or ‘no action’ is 
not appropriate or adequate, then the Monitoring Officer will submit the 
Investigating Officer’s report to the Standards Sub-Committee which 
will conduct a hearing into the complaint before deciding whether the 
Member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct and, if so, 
whether to take any action in respect of the matter. 
 

31. Following the hearing, the Standards Sub-Committee, with the benefit 
of any advice from the Independent Person, may conclude that the 
Member did not fail to comply with the Code of Conduct, and so will 
dismiss the complaint.  
 

32. If the Standards Sub-Committee concludes that the Member has failed 
to comply with the Code of Conduct, the Chairman will inform the 
Member of this finding and the Sub-Committee will then consider what 
action, if any, should be taken as a result of the Member’s failure to 
comply with the Code.  
 

Page 187
Agenda Item 10



Updated: March 2017 Part 5B  / Page 6 

33. Before reaching a decision, the Standards Sub-Committee will give the 
Member an opportunity to make representations and will consult the 
Independent Person. 
 

 Sanctions 
 

34. The Council has delegated to the Standards Sub-Committee authority 
to take such action in respect of individual Members as may be 
available to promote and maintain high standards of conduct. 
Accordingly the Sub-Committee may – 
 

 34.1 censure the Member; 
 

 34.2 publish its findings in respect of the Member’s conduct; 
 

 34.3 report its findings to the Council (or to the Parish Council) for 
information; 
 

 34.4 instruct the Monitoring Officer to (or recommend that the Parish 
Council) arrange training for the Member; 
 

 34.5 inform the Member’s Group Leader 
 

35. The Standards Sub-Committee has no power to suspend or disqualify 
the Member or to withdraw any special responsibility allowances to 
which the Member may be entitled under the Council’s Members’ 
Allowances Scheme. 
 

36. The Independent Person is invited to attend all meetings of the 
Standards Sub-Committee and his/her views will be sought and taken 
into consideration before the Sub-Committee takes any decision on 
whether the Member’s conduct constitutes a failure to comply with the 
Code of Conduct and also as to any action to be taken following a 
finding of failure to comply with the Code of Conduct. 
 

 Revision of these arrangements 
 

37. The Council has delegated its responsibilities under Chapter 7 of the 
Localism Act 2011 to the General Purposes Committee.  The General 
Purposes Committee may therefore amend these arrangements.  The 
General Purposes Committee resolved on 17 July 2014 that authority 
be delegated to the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the 
Chairman of the General Purposes Committee, to amend the 
arrangements for dealing with Standards allegations made under the 
Localism Act 2011. 
 

 

Page 188
Agenda Item 10



Appendix B

Councillor Code of Conduct Complaints Cumulative Summary

Month Cases Opened in 
Month

Cases closed in Month Number of active cases 
at end of Month

March 16 1 0 1
April 16 0 1 0
May 16 1 0 1
June 16 1 1 1
July 16 0 1 0
August 16 1** 1 0
September 16 1 0 1
October 16 0 1 0
November 16 2 0 2
December 16 0 0 2
January 17 0 1 1
February 17 0 0 1
March 17 0 0 1
April 17 1 1 1
May 17 0 0 1
June 17 1 0 2
July 17 3 1 4
August 17 1 2 3
September 17 1 1 3
October 17 1 2 2
November 17 1 2 1
December 17 0 0 1
January 18 2 1 2
February 18 0 2 0
** originally detailed as “2” corrected to “1”

Page 189
Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



Central Bedfordshire Council

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE 29 March 2018

Work Programme

Advising Officer:

Leslie Manning, Committee Services Officer 
(leslie.manning@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)

Purpose of this report

The purpose of this report is to assist the General Purposes Committee in 
discharging its responsibilities by providing a proposed work programme for 
consideration.

RECOMMENDATION

That the Committee considers the proposed work programme attached 
at Appendix A.

Overview and Scrutiny Comments/Recommendations

1. This report is not scheduled to be considered by Overview and Scrutiny 
because the General Purposes Committee has full delegated powers 
to deal with all non-Executive functions which are not reserved to the 
full Council or are not otherwise delegated.

Background 

2. To assist the General Purposes Committee a work programme is 
attached at Appendix A to this report.  The work programme contains 
the known agenda items that the Committee will need to consider.

3. Additional items will be identified as the municipal year progresses.  
The work programme is therefore subject to change.

Council Priorities

4. The activities of the General Purposes Committee are crucial to the 
governance arrangements of the organisation.

Page 191
Agenda Item 11

mailto:leslie.manning@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk


Corporate Implications

Legal Implications

5. There are no legal implications.

Financial Implications

6. There are no financial implications.

Equalities Implications

7. Central Bedfordshire Council has a statutory duty to promote equality 
of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation and foster good relations in respect of nine protected 
characteristics; age disability, gender reassignment, marriage and 
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 
and sexual orientation.

8. Report authors will be encouraged to work with the Corporate Policy 
Advisor (Equality & Diversity) in order to ensure that relevant equality 
implications are identified.

Conclusion and next Steps

9. This report will assist the General Purposes Committee in discharging 
its responsibilities.  Any amendments approved by the Committee will 
be incorporated in the work programme.

Appendices

Appendix A – General Purposes Committee Work Programme

Background Papers

None

Page 192
Agenda Item 11



Appendix A

General Purposes Committee Work Programme

2017/18 Municipal Year
29 March 2018  Consultation on the Community Governance 

Review (BD)
 Gender Pay Gap Statement – 31 March 2017 

(VC)
 Update Report on the Recording of Meetings (JP)
 Report on the Arrangements for Ethical Standards 

(QB)
 Work Programme (LM)


2018/19 Municipal Year
21 June 2018  Market Rate Supplement Payments – Annual 

Update (VC)
 Work Programme (LM)

23 August 
2018

 Work Programme (LM)

25 October 
2018

 Arrangements for Ethical Standards (Standards 
Complaints) (QB)

 Review of Urgent and Minor Updates to the 
Constitution (JP)

 Work Programme (LM)

13 December 
2018

 Pay Policy Statement 2019/20 (VC)
 Work Programme (LM)

Page 193
Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Appendix A - Pay Policy Statement 2018.19
	Appendix B - Proposed Amendments for Procedures for Motions

	7 Community Governance Review
	07 Appendix A - Community Governance Review

	8 Gender Pay Gap Statement - 31 March 2017
	08 Appendix A - Gender Pay Gap Statement
	Introduction
	Central Bedfordshire Council
	Workforce distribution across the grades by gender – headcount of full pay relevant employees

	Gender pay gap data – averages of hourly pay
	Mean gender pay gap in hourly pay
	Median gender pay gap in hourly pay

	Gender pay gap data – bonuses
	Proportion of males and females in each pay quartile
	Gender split of pay quartiles

	Senior Management
	Review


	10 Report on the Arrangements for Ethical Standards
	10 Appendix A - Report on the Arrangements for Ethical Standards
	10 Appendix B - Report on the Arrangements for Ethical Standards

	11 Work Programme
	11 Appendix A - GP Committee Work Programme v8


